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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This quarterly report, including materials incorporated by reference herein, contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than statements of historical fact are “forward-looking statements” for purposes of federal and
state securities laws, including, but not limited to, any projections of earnings, revenue or other financial items; any statements of the plans, strategies and
objectives of management for future operations; any statements concerning future production, reserves or other resource development opportunities; any
projected well performance or economics, or potential joint ventures or strategic partnerships; any statements regarding future economic conditions or
performance; any statements regarding future capital-raising activities; any statements of belief; and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the
foregoing.
Forward-looking statements may include the words “may,” “should,” “could,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan,” “project,” “continue,” “believe,” “expect” or
“anticipate” or other similar words. These forward-looking statements present our estimates and assumptions only as of the date of this presentation. Except
as required by law, we do not intend, and undertake no obligation, to update any forward-looking statement.
Although we believe that the expectations reflected in any of our forward-looking statements are reasonable, actual results could differ materially from those
projected or assumed in any of our forward-looking statements. Our future financial condition and results of operations, as well as any forward-looking
statements, are subject to change and inherent risks and uncertainties. The factors impacting these risks and uncertainties include, the risk factors discussed in
Part I, Item 1A of our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 and the following factors:
●

availability of capital on an economically viable basis, or at all, to fund our capital or operating needs;

●

our high levels of debt, which could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital, limit our ability to react to economic changes and make
it more difficult to meet our obligations under our existing debt;

●

restrictions imposed on us under our credit agreement that limit our discretion in how we operate our business;

●

failure to meet requirements or covenants under our debt instruments, which could lead to foreclosure of significant core assets;

●

failure to fund our authorization for expenditures from other operators for key projects which will reduce or eliminate our interest in the wells/asset;

●

our history of net losses;

●

inability to address our negative working capital position in a timely manner;

●

the inability of management to effectively implement our strategies and business plans;

●

potential default under our secured obligations, material debt agreements or agreements with our investors;

●

estimated quantities and quality of oil and natural gas reserves;

●

exploration, exploitation and development results;

●

fluctuations in the price of oil and natural gas, including further reductions in prices that would adversely affect our revenue, cash flow, liquidity
and access to capital;

●

availability of, or delays related to, drilling, completion and production, personnel, supplies (including water) and equipment;

●

the timing and amount of future production of oil and natural gas;

●

the timing and success of our drilling and completion activity;

●

lower oil and natural gas prices negatively affecting our ability to borrow or raise capital, or enter into joint venture arrangements;

●

declines in the values of our natural gas and oil properties resulting in write-down or impairments;

●

inability to hire or retain sufficient qualified operating field personnel;

●

our ability to successfully identify and consummate acquisition transactions;

●

our ability to successfully integrate acquired assets or dispose of non-core assets;

●

availability of funds under our credit agreement;

●

increases in interest rates or our cost of capital;

●

deterioration in general or regional (especially Rocky Mountain) economic conditions;

●

the strength and financial resources of our competitors;

●

the occurrence of natural disasters, unforeseen weather conditions, or other events or circumstances that could impact our operations or could
impact the operations of companies or contractors we depend upon in our operations;

●

inability to acquire or maintain mineral leases at a favorable economic value that will allow us to expand our development efforts;

●

inability to successfully develop our large inventory of undeveloped acreage we currently hold on a timely basis;

●

constraints, interruptions or other issues affecting the Denver-Julesburg Basin, including disruptions in transportation, marketing, processing,
curtailment of production, or the occurrence of natural disasters and other adverse weather conditions;

●

technique risks inherent in drilling in existing or emerging unconventional shale plays using horizontal drilling and complex completion techniques;

●

delays, denials or other problems relating to our receipt of operational consents, approvals and permits from governmental entities and other
parties;

●

unanticipated recovery or production problems, including cratering, explosions, blow-outs, fires and uncontrollable flows of oil, natural gas or well
fluids;

●

environmental liabilities;

●

operating hazards and uninsured risks;

●

data protection and cyber-security threats;

●

loss of senior management or technical personnel;

●

litigation and the outcome of other contingencies, including legal proceedings;

●

adverse state or federal legislation or regulation that increases the costs of compliance, or adverse findings by a regulator with respect to existing
operations, including those related to climate change and hydraulic fracturing;

●

anticipated trends in our business;

●

effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting;

●

changes in U.S. GAAP or in the legal, regulatory and legislative environments in the markets in which we operate; and

●

other factors, many of which are beyond our control.

Many of these factors are beyond our ability to control or predict. These factors are not intended to represent a complete list of the general or specific factors
that may affect us.
For a detailed description of these and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statement,
we urge you to carefully review and consider the disclosures made in the “Risk Factors” sections of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2014 and other SEC filings, available free of charge at the SEC’s website (www.sec.gov).

LILIS ENERGY, INC.
Condensed Balance Sheets
June 30,
2015
(Unaudited)

December 31,
2014

Assets
Current assets:
Cash
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable (net of allowance of $80,000)
Prepaid assets
Total current assets

$

Oil and gas properties (full cost method), at cost:
Evaluated properties
Unevaluated acreage, excluded from amortization
Wells in progress, excluded from amortization
Total oil and gas properties, at cost
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion, amortization, and impairment
Oil and gas properties at cost, net

207,864
2,726
912,418
101,849
1,224,857

$

46,341,837
2,885,758
6,041,743
55,269,338
(30,932,954)
24,336,384

Other assets:
Office equipment net of accumulated depreciation of $122,657 and $107,712, respectively.
Deferred financing costs, net
Restricted cash and deposits
Total other assets
Total Assets
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
1

46,268,756
2,885,758
6,041,743
55,196,257
(24,550,217)
30,646,040

58,878
274,801
466,325
800,004
$

26,361,245

509,628
183,707
831,706
54,064
1,579,105

73,823
60,000
215,541
349,364
$

32,574,509

LILIS ENERGY, INC.
Condensed Balance Sheets
June 30,
2015
(Unaudited)
Liabilities, Redeemable Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Dividends accrued on preferred stock
Accrued expenses for drilling activity
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Short-term loan
Current portion of term loan
Total current liabilities

$

360,000
5,734,131
767,599
2,158,966
250,000
500,000
9,770,696

December 31,
2014

$

180,000
5,734,131
975,749
1,248,995
8,138,875

Long term liabilities:
Asset retirement obligation
Term loan, net of current portion, net of discount
Convertible debentures, net of discount
Warrant liability
Convertible debentures conversion derivative liability
Total long-term liabilities

203,939
2,202,637
6,846,465
716,250
1,523,339
11,492,630

200,063
6,840,076
393,788
1,249,442
8,683,369

Total liabilities

21,263,326

16,822,244

1,565,911

1,686,102

6,794,000

6,794,000

Commitments and contingencies
Conditionally redeemable 6% preferred stock, $0.0001 par value: 7,000 shares authorized; 2,000 shares issued and
outstanding with a liquidation preference of $2,060,000 as of June 30, 2015 and $2,030,000 as of December 31, 2014.
Stockholders’ equity
Series A Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; stated rate $1,000:10,000,000 shares authorized; 7,500 issued and
outstanding with a liquidation preference of $7,800,000 as of June 30, 2015 and $7,650,000 as of December 31, 2014.
Common stock, $0.0001 par value: 100,000,000 shares authorized; 27,314,094 shares issued and outstanding as of June
30, 2015 and 26,988,240 as of December 31, 2014.
Additional paid in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
Total Liabilities, Redeemable Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity

2,732
157,735,863
(161,000,587)
3,532,008
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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26,361,245

2,699
155,097,785
(147,828,321)
14,066,163
$

32,574,509

LILIS ENERGY, INC.
Condensed Statements of Operations
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2015
2014
Revenue:
Oil sales
Gas sales
Operating fees
Realized gain on commodity price derivatives
Total revenue

$

Costs and expenses:
Production costs
Production taxes
General and administrative
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Impairment of evaluated oil and gas properties
Total costs and expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expenses):
Other income
Inducement expense
Change in fair value of convertible debentures conversion derivative liability
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Change in fair value of conditionally redeemable 6% preferred stock
Interest expense
Total other expenses
Net loss
Accretion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
Accrued dividends for Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
Net loss attributable to common shareholders
Net loss per common share basic and diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted

136,776
26,253
8,888
171,917

$

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2015
2014

979,523
102,324
42,152
1,123,999

226,161
48,196
15,720
290,077

$

1,679,609
189,990
76,881
11,143
1,957,623

66,824
4,406
3,051,214
191,068
504,897
3,818,409

221,260
101,230
2,643,063
570,403
3,535,956

87,216
15,220
5,404,092
434,648
5,966,909
11,908,085

637,583
194,910
5,601,478
959,039
7,393,010

(3,646,492)

(2,411,957)

(11,618,008)

(5,435,387)

785
(161,806)
(217,250)
74,305
(553,522)
(857,488)

44
3,630,015
(2,135,078)
1,494,981

793
(273,897)
(266,212)
120,191
(775,132)
(1,194,257)

97
(6,661,275)
(5,393,809)
(3,346,550)
15,401,537

$

(4,503,980)
(180,000)
(4,683,980)

$

$

(0.17)

$

27,154,094

(916,976)
(12,812,265)
(20,836,924)
(3,566,895)
(3,566,895)
(40,681)
(360,000)
(40,681)
)
(4,524,552 $ (13,172,265 $ (24,444,500)
(0.16) $
27,498,284

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements
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$

(0.49) $
27,071,625

(0.93)
26,292,183

LILIS ENERGY, INC.
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2015
2014
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Inducement expense
Common stock issued to investment bank for fees related to conversion of convertible debentures
Equity instruments issued for services and compensation
Amortization of deferred financing cost
Change in fair value of convertible debentures conversion derivative liability
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Change in fair value of conditionally redeemable 6% preferred stock
Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion of asset retirement obligation
Impairment of evaluated oil and gas properties
Accretion of debt discount
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Restricted cash
Other assets
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses
Net cash used in operating activities

$

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of undeveloped acreage
Drilling capital expenditures
Additions of oil and gas properties
Additions of office equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance of Common Stock
Net proceeds from issuance of Series A Preferred Stock
Dividend payments on Preferred Stock
Debt issuance costs
Proceeds from issuance of short-term loan
Proceeds from issuance of debt
Repayment of debt
Net cash provided by financing activities

(12,812,265) $ (20,836,924)
2,638,110
51,507
273,897
266,212
(120,191)
434,648
5,966,909
15,276

6,661,275
686,273
1,177,039
134,398
5,393,809
989,126
772,460

(80,712)
(69,803)
(47,784)
701,821
(2,782,375)

(147,166)
95,460
431,004
178,422
(4,464,824)

(73,081)
(73,081)

(305,000)
(109,057)
(24,030)
(768)
(438,855)

(180,000)
(266,308)
250,000
3,000,000
(250,000)
2,553,692

5,327,687
4,940,992
1,000,000
(5,081,213)
6,187,466

(301,764)
509,628

1,283,787
165,365

Increase (decrease) in cash
Cash at beginning of period
CASH AT END OF THE PERIOD

$

207,864

$

1,449,152

Supplemental disclosure:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

$
$

147,680
-

$
$

-

$
$
$
$

56,250
-

$

-

$
$
$
$
$
$

5,198,193
5,031,070
8,744,836
1,853,000
148,129

Non-cash transactions:
Fair value of warrants issued as debt discount
Acquisition of oil and gas assets for accounts payable and accrued interest
Transfer from derivative liability to equity classification
Issuance of Common Stock for payment of convertible debentures
Series A Preferred Stock subscription receivable
Common Stock issued for convertible note interest
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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LILIS ENERGY, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF JUNE 30, 2015
(UNAUDITED)
NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION
On September 21, 2009, Universal Holdings, Inc. (“Universal”), a Nevada corporation, completed the acquisition of Coronado Acquisitions, LLC
(“Coronado”). Under the terms of the acquisition, Coronado was merged into Universal. On October 12, 2009, Universal changed its name to Recovery
Energy, Inc. On December 1, 2013, Recovery Energy, Inc. changed its name to Lilis Energy, Inc. (“Lilis”, “Lilis Energy”, “we”, “our”, and the “Company”).
The acquisition was accounted for as a reverse acquisition with Coronado being treated as the acquirer for accounting purposes. Accordingly, the financial
statements of Coronado and Recovery Energy have been adopted as the historical financial statements of Lilis.
The Company is an independent oil and gas exploration and production company focused on the Denver-Julesburg Basin (“DJ Basin”) where it holds 22,500
net acres. Lilis drills for, operates and produces oil and natural gas wells through the Company’s land holdings located in Wyoming, Colorado, and Nebraska.
All references to production, sales volumes and reserves quantities are net to the Company’s interest unless otherwise indicated.
NOTE 2 - LIQUIDITY
Going Concern
The Company’s financial statements for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Company has
reported net operating losses during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and for the past five years. This history of operating losses, along with the
recent decrease in commodity prices, which may adversely affect the Company’s ability to access capital it needs to continue operations. These factors raise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments relating
to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts, or amounts of liabilities, that might result from this uncertainty.
The Company is currently looking for additional capital, potential merger candidates, or funding sources which may offer improved opportunities to obtain
capital to develop its properties, acquire oil and gas properties and to cure any potential defaults in connection with our credit facility and current liabilities
deficiencies. The Company is also focused on maintaining production while efficiently managing, and in some cases reducing, its operating and general and
administrative expenses. The Company is also evaluating asset divestiture opportunities to provide capital to reduce its indebtedness. Successfully
completing a capital infusion will eliminate doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
As of June 30, 2015, the Company was not in compliance with the financial covenant relating to the total debt to EBITDAX ratio required to be maintained
by the Company and measured as of that date pursuant to the Credit Agreement. Additionally, the Company did not make the required principal payment due
on July 1, 2015. On August 6, 2015, Heartland applied cash from the Company’s Debt Service Reserve Account (as defined in the Credit Agreement)
towards the overdue principal payment amount of $125,000 with applicable interest in the amount of $30,000 for a total aggregate payment of $155,000. The
Company has reported this non-compliance to Heartland and received a waiver on the covenant violations.
Liquidity Plan
As of June 30, 2015, the Company had a negative working capital balance and a cash balance of approximately $8.55 million and $208,000, respectively.
Also, as of June 30, 2015, the Company had $2.75 million outstanding under its credit agreement, as amended, (the “Credit Agreement”) with Heartland Bank
(“Heartland”), as administrative agent, and the financial institutions from time to time signatory thereto (each individually a “Lender,” and any and all such
financial institutions collectively the “Lenders”). Of this amount, $500,000 is due within one year. The Company presently has $6.85 million outstanding
under its 8% Senior Secured Convertible Debentures due 2018 (the “Debentures”).
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As of August 1, 2015, the Company is producing approximately 43 barrels of oil equivalent (“BOE”) a day from eight economically producing wells.
On January 8, 2015, the Company entered into the Credit Agreement with Heartland, as administrative agent, which provides for a three-year senior secured
term loan in an initial aggregate principal amount of $3.0 million, which principal amount may be increased to a maximum principal amount of $50.0 million
at the request of the Company, subject to certain conditions, and pursuant to an accordion advance provision in the Credit Agreement. The availability of
additional funds pursuant to the accordion advance is subject to the discretion of the lenders, and is generally based on the value of the Company’s proved
developed producing (“PDP”) and proved undeveloped (“PUD”) reserves. The Company intends to use proceeds borrowed under the Credit Agreement to
fund producing property acquisitions in North America, drill wells in the core of the Company’s lease positions and to fund its working capital. As of August
17, 2015, $2.75 million was outstanding under the Credit Agreement.
On April 30, 2015, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “APA”) with Swan Exploration, LLC (“Swan”) to acquire non-operated
leasehold working interests including interests in 53 producing wells and a 640 gross (499 net) acre block of undeveloped leasehold in the core area of the
Wattenberg Field in Weld County, Colorado. On June 9, 2015, the Company and Swan entered into an amendment to the APA (the “First Amendment”) and
the Company agreed to acquire an additional 375 net acres from previously granted right of first refusal acreage, bringing the total undeveloped acreage being
acquired to 1,015 net acres in the core area of the Wattenberg Field targeting the Niobrara and Codell formations. The additional acreage includes
authorization for expenditures (“AFE”) in place for 11 new wells with an average working interest of 4.48% and a total drilling commitment of $3.2 million.
Additionally, pursuant to the First Amendment, Lilis has agreed to assign to Swan an 8% carried working interest on future drilling on the south half of an
undeveloped 640-acre tract within the originally agreed upon acquisition acreage. It is anticipated that the Company would pay an aggregate of approximately
$4.8 million for its proportionate share of future drilling and completion costs, currently in varying stages of development pursuant to the outstanding AFEs,
which includes the $3.2 million referenced above.
Due to current market conditions and volatility in the oil and gas market, the Company and Swan have entered into a subsequent amendment to extend the
closing date of the transaction and have mutually agreed to further negotiate the final purchase price. The Company received a letter from Swan indicating a
default on the acquisition, however, discussions remain ongoing and the Company expects to close the transaction in the third quarter of 2015, pending the
success of continuing negotiations and the Company’s access to capital.
On June 6, 2014, T.R. Winston & Company, LLC (“TR Winston”) executed a commitment to purchase or affect the purchase by third parties of an additional
$15.0 million in Series A 8% Convertible Preferred Stock, to be consummated within 90 days thereof. The agreement was subsequently extended and expired
on February 22, 2015. On February 25, 2015, the Company and TR Winston agreed in principal to a replacement commitment, pursuant to which TR Winston
has agreed to purchase or affect the purchase by third parties of an additional $7.5 million in Series A 8% Convertible Preferred Stock, to be consummated no
later than February 23, 2016, with all other terms substantially the same as those of the original commitment. This has not yet occurred.
The Company will require additional capital to satisfy its obligations; to fund its current drilling commitments, as well as its acquisition and capital budget
plans; to help fund its ongoing overhead; and to provide additional capital to generally improve its negative working capital position. The Company
anticipates that such additional funding will be provided by a combination of capital raising activities, including borrowing transactions, the sale of additional
debt and/or equity securities, the sale of certain assets, and by the development of certain of the Company’s undeveloped properties via arrangements with
joint venture partners. If the Company is not successful in obtaining sufficient cash to fund the aforementioned capital requirements, the Company would be
required to curtail its expenditures and may be required to restructure its operations, sell assets on terms which may not be deemed favorable and/or curtail
other aspects of its operations, including deferring all or portions of the Company’s capital budget. There is no assurance that any such funding will be
available to the Company on acceptable terms, if at all.
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NOTE 3 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
Basis of Presentation
The condensed financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S.
GAAP”) for interim financial statements and with Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
Accordingly, the financial statements do not contain all information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for annual financial statements. In the opinion of
the Company’s management, the accompanying unaudited condensed financial statements contain all the adjustments necessary (consisting only of normal
recurring accruals) to present the financial position of the Company as of June 30, 2015 and the results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented.
The results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 are not necessarily indicative of the operating results for the full fiscal year for any
future period.
These condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. The Company’s accounting policies are described in the Notes to Financial Statements in its
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, and updated, as necessary, in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the Company to make a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates. Management evaluates estimates and
assumptions on an ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors, including the current economic and commodity price environment. Although
actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions, the Company believes that its estimates are reasonable.
The most significant financial estimates are associated with the Company’s estimated volumes of proved oil and natural gas reserves, asset retirement
obligations, assessments of impairment imbedded in the carrying value of undeveloped acreage and undeveloped properties, fair value of financial
instruments, including derivative liabilities, depreciation and accretion, income taxes and contingencies.
Oil and Gas Producing Activities
The Company follows the full cost method of accounting for oil and gas operations whereby all costs related to the exploration, non-production related
development and acquisition of oil and natural gas reserves are capitalized. Such costs include land acquisition costs, geological and geophysical expenses,
carrying charges on non-producing properties, costs of drilling, developing and completing productive wells and/or plugging and abandoning non-productive
wells, and any other costs directly related to acquisition and exploration activities. Proceeds from property sales are generally applied as a credit against
capitalized exploration and development costs, with no gain or loss recognized, unless such a sale would significantly alter the relationship between
capitalized costs and the proved reserves attributable to these costs. A significant alteration would typically involve a sale of 25% or more of proved reserves.
The Company accounts for its unproven long-lived assets in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 360-10-05, Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. ASC Topic 360-10-05 requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the historical cost carrying value of an asset may no longer be appropriate.
Depletion of exploration and development costs and depreciation of wells and tangible production assets is computed using the units-of-production method
based upon estimated proved oil and gas reserves. Costs included in the depletion base to be amortized include (a) all proved capitalized costs including
capitalized asset retirement costs net of estimated salvage values, less accumulated depletion, (b) estimated future development costs to be incurred in
developing proved reserves; and (c) estimated decommissioning and abandonment/restoration costs, net of estimated salvage values, that are not otherwise
included in capitalized costs.
7

The costs of undeveloped acreage are withheld from the depletion base until it is determined whether or not proved reserves can be assigned to the properties.
When proved reserves are assigned to such properties or one or more specific properties are deemed to be impaired, the cost of such properties or the amount
of the impairment is added to the full cost pool which is subject to depletion calculations.
Under the full cost method of accounting, capitalized oil and gas property costs less accumulated depletion and net of deferred income taxes may not exceed
an amount equal to the sum of the present value, discounted at 10%, of estimated future net revenues from proved oil and gas reserves and the cost of
unproved properties not subject to amortization (without regard to estimates of fair value), or estimated fair value, if lower, of unproved properties that are not
subject to amortization. Should capitalized costs exceed this ceiling, an impairment expense is recognized. During the three and six months ended June 30,
2015, the Company recorded a $505,000 and a $5.967 million impairment, respectively. No impairment was recorded in 2014.
The present value of estimated future net cash flows was computed by applying a flat oil price to forecast revenues from estimated future production of
proved oil and gas reserves as of period-end, less estimated future expenditures to be incurred in developing and producing the proved reserves (assuming the
continuation of existing economic conditions), less any applicable future taxes.
Wells in Progress
Wells in progress connotes wells that are currently in the process of being drilled or completed or otherwise under evaluation as to their potential to produce
oil and gas reserves in commercial quantities. Such wells continue to be classified as wells in progress and withheld from the depletion calculation and the
ceiling test until such time as either proved reserves can be assigned, or the wells are otherwise abandoned. Upon either the assignment of proved reserves or
abandonment, the costs for these wells are then transferred to the full cost pool and become subject to both depletion and the ceiling test calculations in
accordance with full cost accounting under Rule 4-10 of Regulation S-X of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
Accrued Expense
Accrued liabilities are probable future sacrifices of economic benefits arising from present obligations of a particular entity to transfer assets or provide
service to other entities in the future as a result of past transactions or events. Below is the break-out of the accrued expense account as of June 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014.

Fair-value of executive compensation
Accrued convertible debenture interest
Board of director fees
Accrued professional fees
Production taxes
Other payables

$

June 30,
2015
231,109
533,264
49,272
249,000
488,000
608,321

December 31,
2014
$
40,000
3,043
78,000
504,000
623,952

2,158,966

1,248,995

Asset Retirement Obligations
The Company's activities are subject to various laws and regulations, including legal and contractual obligations to reclaim, remediate, or otherwise restore
properties at the time the asset is permanently removed from service. Calculation of an asset retirement obligation ("ARO") requires estimates about several
future events, including the life of the asset, the costs to remove the asset from service, and inflation factors. The ARO is initially estimated based upon
discounted cash flows over the life of the asset and is accreted to full value over time using the Company's credit adjusted risk-free interest rate. Estimates are
periodically reviewed and adjusted to reflect changes.
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The present value of a liability for the ARO is initially recorded when it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. This is typically done
when a well is completed or an asset is placed in service. When the ARO is initially recorded, the Company capitalizes the cost (the asset retirement cost or
"ARC") by increasing the carrying value of the related asset. ARCs related to wells are capitalized to the full cost pool and are subject to depletion. Over
time, the liability increases for the change in its present value (accretion of ARO), while the net capitalized cost decreases over the useful life of the asset as
depletion expense is recognized. In addition, ARCs are included in the ceiling test calculation for valuing the full cost pool.
The fair value of the Company’s asset retirement obligation liability is calculated at the point of inception by taking into account (i) the cost of abandoning oil
and gas wells, which is based on the Company’s and/or industry’s historical experience for similar work, or estimates from independent third-parties; (ii) the
economic lives of its properties, which are based on estimates from reserve engineers; (iii) the inflation rate; and (iv) the credit adjusted risk-free rate, which
takes into account the Company’s credit risk and the time value of money. Given the unobservable nature of the inputs, the initial measurement of the asset
retirement obligation liability is deemed to use Level 3 inputs. As of June 30, 2015, the Company had an ARO balance of $204,000 and has accreted $5,000
and $9,000 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, the Company accreted
$24,000 and $44,000, respectively.
Revenue Recognition
The Company derives revenue primarily from the sale of produced natural gas and crude oil. The Company reports revenue as the gross amount received
before taking into account production taxes and transportation costs, which are reported as separate expenses and are included in oil and gas production
expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Revenue is recorded in the month the Company’s production is delivered to the
purchaser, but payment is generally received between 30 and 90 days after the date of production. No revenue is recognized unless it is determined that title to
the product has transferred to the purchaser. At the end of each month, the Company estimates the amount of production delivered to the purchaser and the
price the Company will receive. The Company uses its knowledge of its properties, its historical performance, existing contracts, NYMEX and local spot
market prices, quality and transportation differentials, and other factors as the basis for these estimates.
Impairment of Long-lived Assets
The Company accounts for long-lived assets (other than oil and gas properties) at cost. Other long-lived assets consist principally of property and equipment
and identifiable intangible assets with finite useful lives (subject to amortization, depletion, and depreciation). The Company may impair these assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully recoverable. Recoverability is measured by
comparing the carrying amount of an asset to the expected undiscounted future net cash flows generated by the asset. If it is determined that the asset may not
be recoverable, and if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated fair value, an impairment charge is recognized to the extent of the difference.
Net Loss per Common Share
Earnings (losses) per share are computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period presented. Diluted earnings
per share are computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding plus the number of common shares that would be issued assuming
exercise or conversion of all potentially dilutive common shares.
Potentially dilutive securities, such as shares issuable upon the conversion of debt or preferred stock, and exercise of warrants and options, are excluded from
the calculation when their effect would be anti-dilutive. As of June 30, 2015 and 2014 shares underlying options, warrants, preferred stock and Debentures
have been excluded from the diluted share calculations as they were anti-dilutive as a result of net losses incurred.
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The Company had the following Common Stock equivalents at June 30, 2015 and 2014:

Stock Options
Unvested Restricted Stock (employees/directors)
Series A Preferred Stock
Warrants
Convertible Debentures

June 30,
2015
6,150,000
1,914,001
3,112,033
15,685,331
3,423,233

June 30,
2014
5,100,000
1,779,633
3,112,033
16,506,281
3,423,233

30,284,598

29,921,180

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In April 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs (“ASU 2015-03”). The
objective of ASU 2015-03 is to simplify the presentation of debt issuance costs in financial statements by presenting such costs in the balance sheet as a direct
deduction from the related debt liability rather than as an asset. ASU 2015-03 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after December 15, 2015 and should be applied retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this standard will not have material
impact on the Company’s financial statements, other than balance sheet reclassifications.
In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements – Going Concern (“ASU 2014-15”). The
objective of ASU 2014-15 is to provide guidance on management’s responsibility in evaluating whether there is substantial doubt about a company’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to provide related footnote disclosures. ASU 2014-15 is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2017, and
annual and interim periods thereafter. This standard is not expected to have an impact on the Company’s financial statements.
In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2014-09”). The objective of
ASU 2014-09 is to clarify the principles for recognizing revenue and to develop a common revenue standard for U.S. GAAP and International Financial
Reporting Standards. ASU 2014-09 is currently effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2017.
However, the FASB recently announced plans to defer the effective date of ASU 2014-09 for one year. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of
adopting ASU 2014-09, but the standard is not expected to have a significant effect on the Company’s financial statements.
NOTE 4 - OIL AND GAS PROPERTIES & OIL AND GAS PROPERTIES ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company did not buy or sell any of its oil and gas properties.
If commodity prices stay at current early 2015 levels or decline further, the Company may incur additional full cost ceiling impairments in future quarters.
Because the ceiling calculation uses rolling 12-month average commodity prices, the effect of lower quarter-over-quarter prices in 2015 compared to 2014 is a
lower ceiling value each quarter. This will result in ongoing impairments each quarter until prices stabilize or improve. Impairment charges would not affect
cash flow from operating activities, but would adversely affect the Company’s net income and stockholders’ equity. As a result of this lower ceiling value,
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company recognized an impairment expense on its evaluated oil and gas properties of $505,000 and
$5.97 million. No impairment was recognized in three and six months ended June 30, 2014.
Depreciation, depletion and amortization (“DD&A”) expenses related to the proved properties were approximately $184,000 and $416,000 for three and six
months ended June 30, 2015 as compared to $512,000 and $901,000 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively.
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As of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Company had $6.04 million of wells in progress for each period, respectively, as a result of two ownership
disputes. Wells in progress are related to certain wells in the Company’s core development program within the Northern Wattenberg field. The Company has
capitalized and accrued approximately $5.73 million of costs through June 30, 2015 associated with certain of these wells, which had previously been in
dispute. This dispute related to our ownership in certain wells being reduced and or eliminated from a purported farm-out. The operator of the producing
wells had claimed that we entered into a farm-out which would have reduced our ownership in the wells. On July 8, 2015, as discussed below, the Company
entered into a Settlement Agreement with the operator. During the six months ended June 30, 2015, there were no additional accrued costs associated with
these wells.
During 2014, the Company transferred $516,000 from wells-in progress to developed oil and natural gas properties for one of its other wells in Northern
Wattenberg, when that well became producing and economic. The amount transferred to producing properties represents 12.5% of the total 25% interest
owned by the Company. The remaining 12.5% ownership in the well is currently being accrued at $491,000 for the authorization for expenditure to drill the
wells, since the remaining ownership is being disputed by the mineral owners. The Company purchased the rights from both royalty owners which claimed
ownership of the mineral rights. The Company has secured its 12.5% ownership by paying both owners $100,000 (for a total of $200,000). The payment was
recorded as an asset to obtain the right to the minerals. By securing the interest with both interest owners, the Company’s interest will remain at 25%. The
mineral owners are disputing the validity of an overriding royalty interest and, as a result, the operator of the well is currently holding revenues from the
Company until the dispute is resolved. The Company believes the well is near payout and this should be resolved in the near future. The Company is currently
accruing the remaining 12.5% authorization of expenditure and deferring the revenue in a suspense receivable account. The Company received notification
that the dispute between the royalty owners has been settled. As a result, the Company is working with the operator to receive payment of its interest. As of
June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2104, the Company had $404,000 and $378,000, respectively, recorded as suspense receivable.
During the six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company executed five joint operating agreements to participate as a non-operator in the drilling of five
horizontal wells. The Company has an average of 2.78% working interest in each of these wells which are being drilled by reputable companies.
NOTE 5 - DERIVATIVES
The Company periodically enters into various commodity derivative financial instruments intended to hedge against exposure to market fluctuations of oil
prices. As of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Company did not have any commodity derivative instruments. Through January 31, 2014, the
Company maintained an active commodity swap for 100 barrels of oil per day at a price of $99.25 per barrel. The Company recorded a realized loss on oil
price hedges of approximately $11,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2014. The Company did not have a hedge agreement for the three months ended
June 30, 2014.
Realized gains and losses are recorded as individual swaps mature and settle. These gains and losses are recorded as income or expenses in the periods during
which applicable contracts settle. Swaps which are unsettled as of a balance sheet date are carried at fair value, either as an asset or liability. Unrealized gains
and losses result from mark-to-market changes in the fair value of these derivatives between balance sheet dates.
NOTE 6 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company measures fair value of its financial assets on a three-tier value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs, used in the valuation methodologies in
measuring fair value:
●

Level 1 - Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

●

Level 2 - Other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

●

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.
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The fair value hierarchy also requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair
value.
The Company’s interest rate term loan and Debentures are measured using Level 3 inputs.
Executive Compensation
In September 2013, the Company announced the appointment of Abraham Mirman as its new president. In connection with Mr. Mirman’s appointment, the
Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Mirman (the “Mirman Agreement”). The Mirman Agreement provides for an incentive bonus
package that, depending upon the relative performance of the Company’s Common Stock compared to the performance of stocks of certain peer group
companies as measured from Mr. Mirman’s initial date of employment through December 31, 2014, may result in a cash bonus payment to Mr. Mirman of up
to 3.0 times his base salary. The incentive bonus is recorded as a liability and valued at each reporting period. The Company engaged a valuation firm
(“VFIRM”) to complete a valuation of this incentive bonus. As of December 31, 2014, the Company recorded a liability of $40,000 for accrued
compensation. As previously announced, on March 30, 2015, the Company entered into an amended and restated employment agreement (the “CEO
Agreement”) with Mr. Mirman. The CEO Agreement also provides for Mr. Mirman to receive a cash incentive bonus if certain production thresholds are
achieved by the Company. The Company recorded Mr. Mirman’s new incentive bonus liability, valued by VFIRM, at $270,000 at June 30, 2015. As of June
30, 2015, the Company has recorded four months of liability of $90,000.
On March 6, 2015, the Company announced the appointment of Kevin Nanke as its new Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Nanke
will also receive a cash incentive bonus if certain production thresholds are achieved by the Company and a performance bonus of $100,000 if the Company
achieves certain goals set forth in the employment agreement. The Company recorded Mr. Nanke’s new incentive bonus liability, valued by VFIRM, at
$216,000 at June 30, 2015. As of June 30, 2015, the Company has recorded four months of liability of $72,000.
As previously announced, in March 2015, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Ariella Fuchs for services to be performed as General
Counsel to the Company. Ms. Fuchs will also receive a cash incentive bonus if certain production thresholds are achieved by the Company. The Company
recorded Ms. Fuchs’ new incentive bonus liability, valued by VFIRM, at $207,000 at June 30, 2015. As of June 30, 2015, the Company has recorded four
months of liability of $69,000.
The three executive compensations agreements had a change in fair value for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 of $173,000 and $231,000,
respectively. The fair value of executive compensation is recorded as an accrued expense.
Consulting Agreement with Bristol Capital-Warrant Anti-Dilution Feature
On September 2, 2014, the Company entered into a Consulting Agreement (the “Consulting Agreement”) with Bristol Capital, LLC (“Bristol”), pursuant to
which the Company issued to Bristol a warrant to purchase up to 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $2.00 per share (or, in the
alternative, 1,000,000 options, but in no case both). The agreement has an anti-dilution feature that will automatically reduce the exercise price if the
Company enters into another consulting agreement pursuant to which warrants are issued with a lower exercise price. On December 31, 2014, the Company
revalued the warrants/option using the following variables: (i) 1,000,000 total warrants/options issued (as stated above, the Company will only issue a total of
1,000,000 shares of Common Stock under the option or the warrant, but no more than 1,000,000 shares in the aggregate); (ii) stock price of $0.72; (iii)
exercise price of $2.00; (iv) expected life of 4.67 years; (v) volatility of 96.78%; (vi) risk free rate of 1.10% for a total value of $394,000, which adjusted the
change in fair value valuation of the derivative by $571,000. On June 30, 2015, the Company revalued the warrants/options using the following variables: (i)
1,000,000 total warrants/options issued (as stated above, the Company will only issue a total of 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock under the option or the
warrant, but no more than 1,000,000 shares in the aggregate); (ii) stock price of $0.99; (iii) exercise price of $2.00; (iv) expected life of 4.20 years; (v)
volatility of 100%; risk free rate of 1.4% for a total value of $588,000, which adjusted the change in fair value valuation of the derivative by $188,000 and
$194,000 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively. The warrants/options increased in liability value from the initial valuation which
resulted in additional expense.
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Heartland Credit Agreement - Warrant Anti-Dilution Feature
On January 8, 2015, the Company entered into the Credit Agreement which provides for a three-year senior secured term loan in an initial aggregate principal
amount of $3.0 million, which principal amount may be increased to a maximum principal amount of $50.0 million at the request of the Company, subject to
certain conditions, and pursuant to an accordion advance provision in the Credit Agreement. Heartland is entitled to receive 75,000 warrants for every $1.0
million advance at an exercise price equal to 115% of the 10-day volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) prior to closing of each advance. The Company
issued 225,000 warrants (the “Initial Warrants”) at an exercise price of $2.50 with the initial advance. The Initial Warrants have an anti-dilution feature that
will automatically reduce the exercise price if the Company enters into another agreement pursuant to which warrants are issued with a lower exercise price.
The Company is carrying the Initial Warrants, valued as of January 8, 2015, as a long-term derivative liability and will revalue the instrument periodically.
On June 30, 2015, the Company revalued the warrants using the following variables: (i) 225,000 warrants issued; (ii) stock price of $0.99; (iii) exercise price
of $ 2.50; (iv) expected life of 4.50 years; (v) volatility of 100%; (vi) risk free rate of 1.5% for a total value of $128,000, which adjusted the change in fair
value valuation of the derivative by $29,000 and $72,000 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively. On January 8, 2015: (i) 225,000
warrants issued; (ii) stock price of $0.72; (iii) exercise price of $2.50; (iv) expected life of 5.0 years; (v) volatility of 97.1%; (vi) risk free rate of 1.50% for a
total value of $56,000, which was recorded as a debt discount and amortized over the life of the loan.
Convertible Debentures Conversion Derivative Liability
As of June 30, 2015, the Company had $6.85 million in remaining Debentures, which are convertible at any time at the holders’ option into shares of
Common Stock at $2.00 per share, or 3,423,233 underlying conversion shares. The debentures have elements of a derivative due to the potential for certain
adjustments, including both the conversion option and the price protection embedded in the Debentures. The conversion option allows the Debenture holders
to convert their Debentures to the underlying Common Stock at the conversion price of $2.00 per share. Subject to certain adjustments, including the
requirement to reset the conversion for any subsequent offering at a lower price per share amount. The Company values this conversion liability at each
reporting period using a Monte Carlo pricing model.
At June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Company valued the conversion feature associated with the Debentures at $1.52 million and $1.25 million,
respectively. The Company used the following inputs to calculate the valuation of the derivative as of June 30, 2015: (i) volatility of 100%; (ii) conversion
price of $2.00; (iii) stock price of $0.99; and (iv) present value of conversion feature of $0.02 per convertible share and as of December 31, 2014: (i) volatility
of 70%; (ii) conversion price of $2.00; (iii) stock price of $0.72; and (iv) present value of conversion feature of $0.47 per convertible share. The change in
fair value valuation of the derivative was $162,000 and $274,000 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively.
The following table provides a summary of the fair values of assets and liabilities measured at fair value:
June 30, 2015:
Level 1
Liability
Executive employment agreements
Warrant liabilities
Convertible debenture conversion derivative liability

$

-

$

Total liability, at fair value

Level 2

$

Level 3

-

$

$

$

(231,000) $
(716,000)
(1,523,000)
(2,470,000) $

Total

(231,000)
(716,000)
(1,523,000)
(2,470,000)

December 31, 2014:
Level 1
Liability
Executive employment agreement
Warrant liabilities
Convertible debenture conversion derivative liability
Total liability, at fair value
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Level 2

Level 3

$

-

$

-

$

$

-

$

-

$

(40,000) $
(394,000)
(1,249,000)
(1,683,000) $

Total

(40,000)
(394,000)
(1,249,000)
(1,683,000)

The following table provides a summary of changes in fair value of the Company’s Level 3 financial assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2015:
Bristol/
Heartland
warrant
liability

Conversion
derivative
liability
Balance at January 1, 2015
Additional liability
Change in fair value of liability

$

Balance at June 30, 2015

$

1,249,000
274,000
1,523,000

$

$

394,000
56,000
266,000
716,000

Incentive
bonus
$

$

40,000
149,000
42,000
231,000

Total
$

$

1,683,000
205,000
582,000
2,470,000

The Company did not have any transfers of assets or liabilities between Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 of the fair value measurement hierarchy during the three
and six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014.
NOTE 7 - LOAN AGREEMENTS

Heartland Term Loan (due January 8, 2018)
Unamortized debt discount
Heartland Term Loan, net
Less: amount due within one year
Heartland Term Loan due after one year

As of
June 30,
2015
$
2,750,000
(47,000)
2,703,000
(500,000)
$
2,203,000

8% Convertible Debentures, net (due 2018; 8% weighted average interest rate)

$

6,846,000

Heartland Bank
On January 8, 2015, Lilis Energy, Inc. (the “Company”) entered into a credit agreement, as amended (the “Credit Agreement”) with Heartland, as
administrative agent, and the financial institutions from time to time signatory thereto (each individually, a “Lender,” and any and all such financial
institutions collectively as the “Lenders”).
The Credit Agreement provides for a three-year senior secured term loan in an initial aggregate principal amount of $3,000,000, which principal amount may
be increased to a maximum principal amount of $50,000,000 at the request of the Company pursuant to an accordion advance provision in the Credit
Agreement subject to certain conditions, including the discretion of the lender (the “Term Loan”). Funds borrowed under the Credit Agreement may be used
by the Company to (i) purchase oil and gas assets, (ii) fund certain Lender-approved development projects, (iii) fund a debt service reserve account, (iv) pay
all costs and expenses arising in connection with the negotiation and execution of the Credit Agreement, and (v) fund the Company’s general working capital
needs.
The Term Loan bears interest at a rate calculated based upon the Company’s leverage ratio and the “prime rate” then in effect. In connection with its entry
into the Credit Agreement, the Company also paid a nonrefundable commitment fee in the amount of $75,000, and agreed to issue to the Lenders 75,000 5year warrants for every $1 million funded. An initial warrant to purchase up to 225,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at $2.50 per share was issued
in connection with closing. As of January 8, 2015, the Company valued the 225,000 warrants at $56,000, which was accounted for as debt discount and
amortized over the life of the debt. The Company accreted $5,000 and $9,000 of debt discount for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively.
The warrants are valued every quarter due to their derivative characteristics. See Note 6—Fair Value of Financial Instruments for valuation and inputs.
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The Company has the right to prepay the Term Loan, in whole or in part, subject to certain conditions. If the Company exercises its right to prepay under the
Credit Agreement prior to January 8, 2016, it will be assessed a prepayment premium in an amount equal to 3% of the amount of such prepayment. If the
Company exercises its right to prepay under the Credit Agreement after January 8, 2016, such prepayment shall be without premium or penalty.
The Credit Agreement contains certain customary representations and warranties and affirmative and negative covenants. The Credit Agreement also contains
financial covenants with respect to the Company’s (i) debt to EBITDAX ratio and (ii) debt coverage ratio. In addition, in certain situations, the Credit
Agreement requires mandatory prepayments of the Term Loans, including in the event of certain non-ordinary course asset sales, the incurrence of certain
debt, and the Company’s receipt of proceeds in connection with insurance claims.
As of June 30, 2015, the Company was not in compliance with the financial covenant relating to the total debt to EBITDAX ratio required to be maintained
by the Company and measured as of that date pursuant to the Credit Agreement. Additionally, the Company did not make the required principal payment due
on July 1, 2015. On August 6, 2015, Heartland applied cash from the Company’s Debt Service Reserve Account (as defined in the Credit Agreement)
towards the overdue principal payment amount of $125,000 with applicable interest in the amount of $30,000 for a total aggregate payment of $155,000. The
Company has reported this non-compliance to Heartland and received a waiver on the covenant violations.
8% Convertible Debentures
In numerous separate private placement transactions between February 2011 and October 2013, the Company issued an aggregate of approximately $15.6
million of Debentures, secured by mortgages on several of its properties. On January 31, 2014, the Company entered into a Debenture Conversion Agreement
(the “Conversion Agreement”) with all of the holders of the Debentures.
Under the terms of the Conversion Agreement, the balance of the Debentures may be converted to Common Stock on the terms provided in the Conversion
Agreement (including the terms related to the Warrants) at the election of the holder, subject to receipt of shareholder approval as required by NASDAQ
continued listing requirements. The Company intends to present proposals to approve the conversion of the remaining outstanding Debentures at its 2015
annual meeting of shareholders, which it expects to hold sometime in the fourth quarter.
As of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Company had $6.85 million and $6.84 million, net, remaining Debentures, respectively, which are
convertible at any time at the holders’ option into shares of Common Stock at a conversion price of $2.00 per share, subject to certain standard adjustments.
As of June 30, 2015, the Company is in compliance with both the Credit Agreement and the 8% Convertible Debenture covenants, except as described above.
Interest Expense
Interest expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 was $553,000 and $775,000, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended
June 30, 2014 of $2.14 million and $3.35 million, respectively. The non-cash interest expense during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 was
approximately $425,000 and $597,000, respectively, as compared to $1.28 million and $2.82 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014. The
non-cash interest expenses consisted of non-cash interest expense and amortization of the deferred financing costs, accretion of the Debentures payable
discount, and Debentures interest paid in common stock.
NOTE 8 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Environmental and Governmental Regulation
At June 30, 2015, there were no known environmental or regulatory matters which were reasonably expected to result in a material liability to the Company.
Many aspects of the oil and gas industry are extensively regulated by federal, state, and local governments in all areas in which the Company has operations.
Regulations govern such things as drilling permits, environmental protection and air emissions/pollution control, spacing of wells, the unitization and pooling
of properties, reports concerning operations, land use, and various other matters including taxation. Oil and gas industry legislation and administrative
regulations are periodically changed for a variety of political, economic, and other reasons. As of June 30, 2015 the Company had not been fined or cited for
any violations of governmental regulations that would have a material adverse effect upon the financial condition of the Company.
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Legal Proceedings
The Company may from time to time be involved in various legal actions arising in the normal course of business. In the opinion of management, the
Company’s liability, if any, in these pending actions would not have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Company. The Company’s
general and administrative expenses would include amounts incurred to resolve claims made against the Company.
Parker v. Tracinda Corporation, Denver District Court, Case No. 2011CV561. In November 2012, the Company filed a motion to intervene in garnishment
proceedings involving Roger Parker, the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer and Chairman. The Defendant, Tracinda, served various writs of
garnishment on the Company to enforce a judgment against Mr. Parker seeking, among other things, shares of unvested restricted stock. The Company
asserted rights to lawful set-offs and deductions in connection with certain tax consequences, which may be material to the Company. The underlying
judgment against Mr. Parker was appealed to the Colorado Court of Appeals and, by Order dated October 17, 2013, that Court reversed the trial court with
respect to Mr. Parker’s claims of waiver, estoppel and mitigation of damages and remanded with instruction to enter judgment for Mr. Parker. The Court of
Appeals also ordered the trial court to conduct further proceedings to determine the amount of damages to award Mr. Parker on his breach of contract claim.
The trial court conducted a later hearing and found in its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order dated January 9, 2015, in favor of Mr. Parker on his
claim for breach of contract, awarding him $6,981,302.60.Tracinda’s Motion for Amendment of the Court’s January 9 Findings and Conclusions was the
subject of an Order dated April 10, 2015, in which the Court set off the award in favor of Mr. Parker against the award in favor of Tracinda, resulting in
judgment in favor of Tracinda and against Mr. Parker in the amount of $625,572.10. On April 16, 2015, Tracinda filed a Notice of Appeal in the Colorado
Court of Appeals, appealing both the January 9 Order and the April 10 Order. On May 18, 2015, Parker filed a Notice of Cross-Appeal in the Colorado Court
of Appeals, cross-appealing both the January 9 Order and the April 10 Order. The record is in the process of being certified. The filing of the record will
trigger the parties' briefing schedule.
In re Roger A. Parker: Tracinda Corp. v. Recovery Energy, Inc. and Roger A. Parker, United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Colorado, Case No.
13-10897-EEB. On June 10, 2013, Tracinda Corp. (“Tracinda”) filed a complaint (Adversary No. 13-011301 EEB) against the Company and Roger Parker in
connection with the personal bankruptcy proceedings of Roger Parker, alleging that the Company improperly failed to remit to Tracinda certain property in
connection with a writs of garnishment issued by the Denver District Court (discussed above). The Company filed an answer to this complaint on July 10,
2013. A trial date has not been set and, by Order dated February 2, 2015, the Bankruptcy Court ordered that the Adversary Proceeding be held in abeyance
pending final resolution of the state-court action (2011CV561). The Company is unable to predict the timing and outcome of this matter.
Lilis Energy, Inc. v. Great Western Operating Company LLC, Eighth Judicial District Court for Clark County, Nevada, Case No. A-15-714879-B. On March
6, 2015, the Company filed a lawsuit against Great Western Operating Company, LLC (the “Operator”). The dispute related to the Company’s interest in
certain producing wells and the Operator’s assertion that the Company’s interest was reduced and/or eliminated as a result of a default or a farm-out
agreement. Underlying the dispute is the JOA which provides the parties with various rights and obligations. In its complaint, the Company sought monetary
damages and declaratory relief on claims of breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, tortious breach of the implied
covenant of good faith and fair dealing, unjust enrichment, conversion and declaratory judgment related to the JOA. The Operator filed a motion to dismiss on
May 26, 2015 and we responded by filing an opposition motion on June 12, 2015.
On July 7, 2015, as previously reported, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with the Operator. The Settlement
Agreement provides that upon Lilis’ payment to the Operator, net of the revenues owed to Lilis based on Lilis’ respective working interests in the subject
wells of (i) the balance of its share of the costs and expenses of drilling, completion and operating costs of the subject wells, (ii) interest due on that amount
and (iii) a penalty fee of $250,000. Lilis will have its full rights restored in the subject wells and return to having all rights and obligations under the JOA.
This includes the right to participate in any future proposed wells at Lilis’ full interest under the JOA as if Lilis had participated and paid its proportionate
share of costs of the subject wells prior to the notices of default sent to the Company by the Operator. Pursuant to the JOA, Lilis will regain an approximately
50% working interest in each of two Wattenberg horizontal wells (1 Niobrara and 1 Codell), an approximately 33% working interest in a third well
(Niobrara), and an approximately 50% working interest in the remaining leasehold.
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The Company believes there is no other litigation pending that could have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on its results of
operations or financial condition.
NOTE 9 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
G. Tyler Runnels
The Company has participated in several transactions with TR Winston, of which G. Tyler Runnels, currently a member of the Company’s board of directors,
is chairman and majority owner. Mr. Runnels also beneficially holds more than 5% of the Company’s Common Stock, including the holdings of TR Winston
and his personal holdings, and has personally participated in certain transactions with the Company.
On June 6, 2014, TR Winston executed a commitment to purchase or affect the purchase by third parties of an additional $15 million in Series A 8%
Convertible Preferred Stock, to be consummated within 90 days thereof. The agreement was subsequently extended and expired on February 22, 2015. On
February 25, 2015, the Company and TR Winston agreed in principal to a replacement commitment, pursuant to which TR Winston has agreed to purchase or
affect the purchase by third parties of an additional $7.5 million in Series A 8% Convertible Preferred Stock, to be consummated no later than February 23,
2016, with all other terms substantially the same as those of the original commitment. This has not yet occurred.
Ronald D. Ormand
On March 20, 2014, the Company entered into an Engagement Agreement (the “Engagement Agreement”) with MLV & Co. LLC (“MLV”), pursuant to
which MLV will act as the Company’s exclusive financial advisor. Ronald D. Ormand, currently a member of the Company’s board of directors as of
February 2015, is the Managing Director and Head of the Energy Investment Banking Group at MLV. The Engagement Agreement provides for a fee of
$25,000 to be paid monthly to MLV, subject to certain adjustments and other specific fee arrangements in connection with the nature of financial services
being provided. The Company expensed $75,000 and $175,000 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, and expensed a total of
$50,000 and $150,000 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively.
On May 27, 2015, MLV agreed to take $150,000 of its accrued fees in the Company’s Common Stock and was issued 75,000 shares in lieu of payment. The
closing share price on May 27, 2015 was $1.56.
General Merrill McPeak
During the three months ended June 30, 2015, the Company received $250,000 from General McPeak as a short-term funding source (the “Short-Term
Agreement”). The Short-Term Agreement carries a 12% interest and is not secured by any assets of the Company. The Short-Term Agreement generated
minimal interest. The amount will be repaid within one year. General McPeak is currently a member of the Company’s board of directors. The Short-Term
Agreement is recorded as a short-term loan.
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NOTE 10 - SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company granted 350,000 shares and 634,189 shares of restricted Common Stock to employees
and board members, respectively. The 634,189 shares of restricted Common Stock were reduced by forfeitures of 100,000 shares of restricted Common
Stock, as a result of resignations by former employees and directors. As such, the total shares of Common Stock granted during the six months ended June 30,
2015 was 534,189, net of the forfeiture adjustment of unvested shares. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company expensed $1.82
million and $2.64 million, respectively. During three and six months ended June 30, 2014, the Company expensed $8.4 million and $36.0 million,
respectively.
Series A 8% Convertible Preferred Stock
On May 30, 2014, the Company consummated a private placement of 7,500 shares of Series A 8% Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred
Stock”), together with warrants to purchase up to 1,556,017 shares of Common Stock, at an exercise price of $2.89 per share, for aggregate gross proceeds of
$7.50 million. The Series A Preferred Stock bears an 8% dividend per annum, payable quarterly. The Series A Preferred Stock is convertible into 3,112,033
shares of Common Stock at a conversion price of $2.41 per share, and has a liquidation preference to any junior securities. As of June 30, 2015, the Company
has accrued a cumulative dividend of $300,000 on the Series A Preferred Stock. Additionally, the Company is subject to an 18% late fee on the outstanding
dividend amount owed until the balance is paid.
Conditionally Redeemable 6% Preferred Stock
In August 2014, the Company designated 2,000 shares of its authorized preferred stock as Conditionally Redeemable 6% Preferred Stock (“Redeemable
Preferred”). All 2,000 shares of Redeemable Preferred were issued pursuant to the execution of the settlement agreement with Hexagon, LLC (“Hexagon”) in
September 2014. The Redeemable Preferred has the same par value and stated value characteristics as the Series A Preferred Stock, except the Redeemable
Preferred is not convertible into Common Stock or any other securities of the Company. Except as otherwise required by law, holders of the Redeemable
Preferred are not entitled to voting rights.
The Redeemable Preferred Stock bears a 6% dividend per annum, payable quarterly, and is redeemable at face value (plus any accrued and unpaid dividends)
at any time at the Company’s option, or at the Holders option upon the Company’s achievement of certain production and reserve thresholds. These thresholds
include the Company’s annualized gross production average for 90 consecutive days at 2,500 BOE per day or higher or the Company’s PV-10 value of its
producing developed properties filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission exceeds $50 million. On June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the
Company revalued the Conditionally Redeemable 6% Preferred Stock using the Monte Carlo pricing for a total value of $1.57 million, which adjusted the
change in fair value valuation of the derivative down by $120,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2015. On December 31, 2014, the Conditionally
Redeemable Preferred Stock was valued at approximately $1.69 million. As of June 30, 2015, the Company has accrued a cumulative dividend of $60,000 on
the Redeemable Preferred.
Consulting Agreements
In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into services agreements for various services including but not limited to strategic planning;
management and business operations, introductions to further its business goals, advice and services related to the Company’s growth initiatives, public
relations, investment banking and any other consulting or advisory services including the one entered into with Bristol, discussed above. Often times, these
agreements provide for an equity compensation component which has been paid in Common Stock, stock options and warrants or a combination thereof.
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company issued a total of 300,000 and 600,000 warrants that were paid to consultants, respectively,
as discussed below.
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Warrants
Below is a summary of warrant activity for the six months ended June 30, 2015:
WeightedAverage
Warrants
Exercise Price
17,007,065
3.59
225,000
2.50
600,000
2.25
(2,146,734)
6.10
15,685,331 $
3.18

Outstanding at January 1, 2015
Warrants issued to Heartland Bank
Warrants issued to consultants
Exercised, forfeited, or expired
Outstanding at June 30, 2015

The aggregate intrinsic value associated with outstanding warrants was zero at June 30, 2015 as the strike price of all warrants exceeded the market price for
Common Stock, based on the Company’s closing Common Stock price of $0.99 on June 30, 2015. The weighted average remaining contract life as of June
30, 2015 was 3.49 years.
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company issued warrants to purchase Common Stock to consultants for professional
services. The warrants were valued using a Black Sholes model and the Company expensed approximately $220,000 and 425,000 for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2015, respectively. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, the Company expensed $35,000 and $643,000, respectively,
representing the fair value of warrants issued to consultants for services rendered.
NOTE 11 - SHARE BASED AND OTHER COMPENSATION
Share-Based Compensation
In September 2012, the Company adopted the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the “EIP”). The EIP was amended by the stockholders on June 27, 2013 to
increase the number of shares of Common Stock available for grant under the EIP from 900,000 shares to 1,800,000 shares and again on November 13, 2013
to increase the number of shares of Common Stock available for grant under the EIP from 1,800,000 shares to 6,800,000 shares and to increase the number of
shares of Common Stock eligible for grant under the EIP in a single year to a single participant from 1,000,000 shares to 3,000,000 shares. Each member of
the board of directors and the management team has been periodically awarded stock options and/or restricted stock grants and may be awarded additional
grants under the terms of the EIP in the future.
The value of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments is based on the grant-date fair value of the award, recognized over
the period during which an employee is required to provide services in exchange for such award.
During the six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company granted 634,189 shares of restricted Common Stock and 4,800,000 stock options, to employees,
directors and consultants. Also during the three months ended June 30, 2015, certain of the Company’s employees, directors and consultants forfeited 100,000
shares of restricted Common Stock and 2,233,333 stock options previously issued in connection with various terminations. As a result, as of June 30, 2015,
the Company had 1,914,001 restricted shares and 6,150,000 options to purchase common shares outstanding to employees and directors. Options issued to
employees vest in equal installments over specified time periods during the service period or upon achievement of certain performance based operating
thresholds.
The Company requires that employees and directors pay the tax on equity grants in order to issue the shares and there is currently no cashless exercise option.
Therefore, as of June 30, 2015, 1,914,001 shares have been granted, but are not issued.
Compensation Costs

Stock-based compensation expensed*

$

Three Months Ended
June 30, 2015**
Stock
Restricted
Options
Stock
1,168,000 $
283,000 $
19

Total
1,451,000

Three Months Ended
As of June 30, 2014
Stock
Restricted
Options
Stock
$
530,000 $
120,000 $

Total
650,000

(Dollar amounts in thousands)
Stock-based compensation expensed*
*
**

$

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2015**
Stock
Restricted
Options
Stock
1,723,000 $
341,000 $

Total
2,064,000

Six Months Ended
As of June 30, 2014
Stock
Restricted
Options
Stock
$
754,000 $
190,000 $

Total
944,000

Only includes directors and employees for which the options vest over time instead of based upon performance criteria for which the performance
criteria has not been met as of June 30, 2015.
As of June 30, 2015, the Company has unamortized stock-based compensation costs for stock options of $2.36 million and $528,000 for restricted
stock. The Company has a weighted average amortization period remaining for stock options of 7.77 years and 1.41 years for restricted stock.

Restricted Stock
A summary of restricted stock grant activity for the six months ended June 30, 2015 is presented below:

Number of
Shares
1,630,667
634,188
(250,854)
(100,000)

Outstanding at January 1, 2015
Granted
Vested/issued
Forfeited
Outstanding at June 30, 2015

1,914,001

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Price
2.44
.97
1.12
2.45
2.20

As of June 30, 2015, total unrecognized compensation costs related to 411,667 unvested restricted shares of Common Stock issued to directors and employees
was approximately $581,079, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average remaining service period of 1.41 years.
During the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company granted restricted stock for professional services. The restricted stock granted was valued
at the fair value at the date of grant and vested over the contract life. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 the Company expensed $150,000
and $207,000, respectively, relating to the contracts. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, the Company expensed $190,000 and $285,000,
respectively.
Board of Directors
On April 16, 2015, the Board adopted amended terms to the Company’s independent director compensation agreements and established an amended nonemployee director compensation program pursuant to the EIP. The Company’s non-employee director compensation program is comprised of the following
components:
●

Initial Grant: Each non-employee director receives 100,000 shares of Common Stock, which vest in three equal installments over a three year
period, payable on the date of the director’s appointment anniversary (subject to the continued service of the director and certain accelerated vesting
provisions);

●

Annual Stock Award: Each non-employee director will receive an annual stock award equal to $60,000 divided by the most recent per share closing
price of the Common Stock on the national securities exchange on which the Common Stock is traded prior to the date of each annual grant, issued
on the director’s appointment anniversary, and subject to certain accelerated vesting provisions;
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●

Annual Cash Retainer: Each non-employee director will receive an annual cash retainer fee of $60,000, paid quarterly, which at the election of the
director is payable in cash or stock (calculated by dividing the value of cash compensation (or portion thereof) by the most recent per share closing
price of the Common Stock on the national securities exchange on which the Common Stock is traded prior to the date of the grant; and

●

Option Award: Each non-employee director will receive a grant of options to purchase 250,000 shares of Common Stock, which vest immediately
and options to purchase 200,000 shares of Common Stock hat vest in equal installments over a three year period; and

●

Committee Fees: On a quarterly basis, beginning at the end of the first full quarter following the appointment of the non-employee director to
Chairman of the Board, Chairman of the Audit Committee or Chairman of the Compensation Committee, the director will receive $12,500, $6,250
and $6,250, respectively, in cash compensation.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company expensed $977,000 and $1.20 million, respectively. The expense consisted of $977,000
and $1.15 million in non-cash compensation for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015. On April 20, 2015, the Company valued the 200,000 stock
options issued to three of the non-employee directors using the following variables: (i) 200,000 options issued per director (600,000 options); (ii) stock price
of $1.65; (iii) exercise price of $ 1.65; (iv) expected life of 7 years; (v) volatility of 99.44%; (vi) risk free rate of 1.65% for a total value of $271,000 for each
grant (total of $813,000 for all three directors) which the amount is amortized over the vesting period. On April 20, 2015, the Company valued the 250,000
stock options issued to the three non-employee directors using the following variables: (i) 250,000 options issued for per director (750,000 options); (ii) stock
price of $1.65; (iii) exercise price of $ 1.65; (iv) expected life of 5 years; (v) volatility of 99.44%; (vi) risk free rate of 1.65% for a total value of $306,000 for
each grant (total of $918,000 for all three directors) which amount is expensed immediately.
Stock Options
A summary of stock options activity for the six months ended June 30, 2015 is presented below:

Number
of Options
3,583,333

Outstanding at January 1, 2015
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited or cancelled
Outstanding at June 30, 2015

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
$
2.16

4,800,000
(2,233,333)

$

6,150,000

Stock Options Outstanding and
Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Number
Remaining
of Options
Contractual
Vested/
Life
Exercisable
(Years)
1,383,333
3.52

$

1.26
(2.45)

2,666,667
(233,333)

9.64
(1.84)

$

1.35

2,666,667

7.04

As of June 30, 2015, total unrecognized compensation costs relating to the outstanding options was $2.35 million, which is expected to be recognized over the
remaining vesting period of approximately 2.28 years.
The average life of the options is three years with an intrinsic value of $60,000 as of June 30, 2015.
During the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company issued stock options to purchase Common Stock to certain of its officers and directors.
The options are valued using a Black Scholes model and amortized over the life of the option. During the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 the
Company amortized $1.17 million and $537,000, respectively and during the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company amortized $1.72
million and $762,000, respectively, relating to options outstanding. As of June 30, 2015, 3,483,333 options were exercisable and 2,666,667 options have yet
to vest in accordance with employee and board of director compensation agreements.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, as well as
the unaudited condensed financial statements and notes thereto included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This discussion contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a
result of various factors including those set forth under Item “1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.
General
Lilis Energy, Inc. is an independent oil and gas company engaged in the acquisition, drilling and production of oil and natural gas properties and prospects
within the Denver-Julesburg (“DJ”) Basin. Our business strategy is designed to create shareholder value by developing our undeveloped acreage and
leveraging the knowledge, expertise and experience of our management team.
We principally target low to medium risk projects that have the potential for multiple producing horizons, and offer repeatable success allowing for
meaningful production and reserve growth. Our acquisition and exploration pursuits of oil and natural gas properties are principally in Colorado, Nebraska,
and Wyoming within the DJ Basin.
Financial Condition and Liquidity
The Company’s financial statements for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Company has
reported net operating losses during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and for the past five years. This history of operating losses, along with the
recent decrease in commodity prices, which may adversely affect the Company’s ability to access capital it needs to continue operations. These factors raise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments relating
to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts, or amounts of liabilities, that might result from this uncertainty.
The Company is currently looking for additional capital, potential merger candidates, or funding sources which may offer improved opportunities to obtain
capital to develop its properties, acquire oil and gas properties and to cure any potential defaults in connection with our credit facility and current liabilities
deficiencies. The Company is also focused on maintaining production while efficiently managing, and in some cases reducing, its operating and general and
administrative expenses. The Company is also evaluating asset divestiture opportunities to provide capital to reduce its indebtedness. Successfully
completing a capital infusion will eliminate doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
As of June 30, 2015, the Company was not in compliance with the financial covenant relating to the total debt to EBITDAX ratio required to be maintained
by the Company and measured as of that date pursuant to the Credit Agreement. Additionally, the Company did not make the required principal payment due
on July 1, 2015. On August 6, 2015, Heartland applied cash from the Company’s Debt Service Reserve Account (as defined in the Credit Agreement)
towards the overdue principal payment amount of $125,000 with applicable interest in the amount of $30,000 for a total aggregate payment of $155,000. The
Company has reported this non-compliance to Heartland and received a waiver on the covenant violations.
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Liquidity Plan
As of June 30, 2015, the Company had a negative working capital balance and a cash balance of approximately $8.55 million and $208,000, respectively.
Also, as of June 30, 2015, the Company had $2.75 million outstanding under its credit agreement, as amended, (the “Credit Agreement”) with Heartland Bank
(“Heartland”), as administrative agent, and the financial institutions from time to time signatory thereto (each individually a “Lender,” and any and all such
financial institutions collectively the “Lenders”). Of this amount, $500,000 is due within one year. The Company presently has $6.85 million outstanding
under its 8% Senior Secured Convertible Debentures due 2018 (the “Debentures”).
As of August 1, 2015, the Company is producing approximately 43 barrels of oil equivalent (“BOE”) a day from eight economically producing wells.
On January 8, 2015, the Company entered into the Credit Agreement with Heartland, as administrative agent, which provides for a three-year senior secured
term loan in an initial aggregate principal amount of $3.0 million, which principal amount may be increased to a maximum principal amount of $50.0 million
at the request of the Company, subject to certain conditions, and pursuant to an accordion advance provision in the Credit Agreement. The availability of
additional funds pursuant to the accordion advance is subject to the discretion of the lenders, and is generally based on the value of the Company’s proved
developed producing (“PDP”) and proved undeveloped (“PUD”) reserves. The Company intends to use proceeds borrowed under the Credit Agreement to
fund producing property acquisitions in North America, drill wells in the core of the Company’s lease positions and to fund its working capital. As of August
17, 2015, $2.75 million was outstanding under the Credit Agreement.
On April 30, 2015, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “APA”) with Swan Exploration, LLC (“Swan”) to acquire non-operated
leasehold working interests including interests in 53 producing wells and a 640 gross (499 net) acre block of undeveloped leasehold in the core area of the
Wattenberg Field in Weld County, Colorado. On June 9, 2015, the Company and Swan entered into an amendment to the APA (the “First Amendment”) and
the Company agreed to acquire an additional 375 net acres from previously granted right of first refusal acreage, bringing the total undeveloped acreage being
acquired to 1,015 net acres in the core area of the Wattenberg Field targeting the Niobrara and Codell formations. The additional acreage includes
authorization for expenditures (“AFE”) in place for 11 new wells with an average working interest of 4.48% and a total drilling commitment of $3.2 million.
Additionally, pursuant to the First Amendment, Lilis has agreed to assign to Swan an 8% carried working interest on future drilling on the south half of an
undeveloped 640-acre tract within the originally agreed upon acquisition acreage. It is anticipated that the Company would pay an aggregate of approximately
$4.8 million for its proportionate share of future drilling and completion costs, currently in varying stages of development pursuant to the outstanding AFEs,
which includes the $3.2 million referenced above.
Due to current market conditions and volatility in the oil and gas market, the Company and Swan have entered into a subsequent amendment to extend the
closing date of the transaction and have mutually agreed to further negotiate the final purchase price. The Company received a letter from Swan indicating a
default on the acquisition, however discussions remain ongoing and the Company expects to close the transaction in the third quarter of 2015, pending the
success of continuing negotiations and the Company’s access to capital.
On June 6, 2014, T.R. Winston & Company, LLC (“TR Winston”) executed a commitment to purchase or affect the purchase by third parties of an additional
$15.0 million in Series A 8% Convertible Preferred Stock, to be consummated within 90 days thereof. The agreement was subsequently extended and expired
on February 22, 2015. On February 25, 2015, the Company and TR Winston agreed in principal to a replacement commitment, pursuant to which TR Winston
has agreed to purchase or affect the purchase by third parties of an additional $7.5 million in Series A 8% Convertible Preferred Stock, to be consummated no
later than February 23, 2016, with all other terms substantially the same as those of the original commitment. This has not yet occurred.
The Company will require additional capital to satisfy its obligations; to fund its current drilling commitments, as well as its acquisition and capital budget
plans; to help fund its ongoing overhead; and to provide additional capital to generally improve its negative working capital position. The Company
anticipates that such additional funding will be provided by a combination of capital raising activities, including borrowing transactions, the sale of additional
debt and/or equity securities, the sale of certain assets, and by the development of certain of the Company’s undeveloped properties via arrangements with
joint venture partners. If the Company is not successful in obtaining sufficient cash to fund the aforementioned capital requirements, the Company would be
required to curtail its expenditures and may be required to restructure its operations, sell assets on terms which may not be deemed favorable and/or curtail
other aspects of its operations, including deferring all or portions of the Company’s capital budget. There is no assurance that any such funding will be
available to the Company on acceptable terms, if at all.
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Cash Flows
The following table compares cash flow items during the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands):
Six months ended
June 30,
2015
2014
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Net change in cash

$

$

(2,782) $
(73)
2,553
302

$

(4,465)
(438)
6,187
1,284

During the six months ended June 30, 2015, net cash used in operating activities was $2.8 million, compared to cash used in operating activities of $4.47
million during the six months ended June 30, 2014, a decrease of cash used in operating activities of $1.67 million. The conveyance of oil and gas properties
to Hexagon LLC (“Hexagon”) for the reduction of term loan debt in 2014 reduced both the Company’s net oil and gas operating income and interest costs in
2015. Additionally in 2015, the Company increased its use of cash for general and administrative expenses for consultants, legal costs and expanding its
management team. In 2014, the Company used $330,000 in cash to perform a due diligence of an international oil and gas company which was unsuccessful
and $700,000 cash used for interest for the term loan.
During the six months ended June 30, 2015, net cash used in investing activities was $73,000, compared to net cash used in investing activity of $438,000
during the six months ended June 30, 2014, representing a decrease of cash used in investing activities of $365,000. The Company had limited activity in
2015. During 2014, the Company acquired $305,000 of undeveloped acreage, $24,000 oil and gas properties, and $109,000 on producing oil and gas
properties.
During the six months ended June 30, 2015, net cash provided by financing activities was $2.55 million, compared to net cash provided by financing
activities of $6.19 million during the six months ended June 30, 2014, a decrease of $3.64 million. During 2015, the Company received proceeds from the
issuance of debt of $3.20 million and proceeds from the issuance of the short-term loan of $250,000 was offset by a debt issuance cost of $266,000, dividends
of $180,000, and $250,000 repayment of debt. During 2014, the Company received proceeds from the issuance of Common Stock of $5.33 million offset by
debt repayment of debt of $5.08 million, and $4.94 million in proceeds of the issuance of Series A Preferred Stock.
Capital Resources and Budget
We anticipate a capital budget of up to $50.0 million between 2015 and 2016. The budget is allocated toward the acquisition of properties and companies in
North America and to develop our drilling opportunities that focus on unconventional reservoirs located in the Wattenberg field within the DJ Basin that will
apply horizontal drilling in the Niobrara shale and Codell formations.
The entire capital budget is subject to the securing additional capital through equity placement, utilizing the Credit Agreement and additional debt instruments
and funds contemplated by the Credit Agreement. We plan to use these funds to acquire additional production capacity in North America. Some of the
proceeds from the initial borrowing under the Credit Agreement were applied to the payment and servicing of our term debt and working capital and
participating in working interests in the Wattenberg area.
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In addition to the need to secure adequate capital to fund our capital budget, the execution of, and results from, our capital budget are contingent on various
factors, including, but not limited to, the sourcing of capital, market conditions, oilfield services and equipment availability, commodity prices and drilling/
production results. Results from the wells identified in the capital budget may lead to additional adjustments to the capital budget. Other factors that could
impact our level of activity and capital expenditure budget include, but are not limited to, a reduction or increase in service and material costs, the formation
of joint ventures with other exploration and production companies, and the divestiture of non-strategic assets.
As of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Company had $6.04 million of wells in progress for each period, respectively, as a result of two ownership
disputes. Wells in progress are related to certain wells in the Company’s core development program within the Northern Wattenberg field. The Company has
capitalized and accrued approximately $5.73 million of costs through June 30, 2015 associated with certain of these wells, which had previously been in
dispute. This dispute related to our ownership in certain wells being reduced and or eliminated from a purported farm-out. The operator of the producing
wells had claimed that we entered into a farm-out which would have reduced our ownership in the wells. On July 8, 2015, as discussed below, the Company
entered into a Settlement Agreement with the operator. During the six months ended June 30, 2015, there were no additional accrued costs associated with
these wells. See Item 1—Legal Proceedings.
During 2014, the Company transferred $516,000 from wells-in progress to developed oil and natural gas properties for one of its other wells in Northern
Wattenberg, when that well became producing and economic. The amount transferred to producing properties represents 12.5% of the total 25% interest
owned by the Company. The remaining 12.5% ownership in the well is currently being accrued at $491,000 for the authorization for expenditure to drill the
wells, since the remaining ownership is being disputed by the mineral owners. The Company purchased the rights from both royalty owners which claimed
ownership of the mineral rights. The Company has secured its 12.5% ownership by paying both owners $100,000 (for a total of $200,000). The payment was
recorded as an asset to obtain the right to the minerals. By securing the interest with both interest owners, the Company’s interest will remain at 25%. The
mineral owners are disputing the validity of an overriding royalty interest and, as a result, the operator of the well is currently holding revenues from the
Company until the dispute is resolved. The Company believes the well is near payout and this should be resolved in the near future. The Company is currently
accruing the remaining 12.5% authorization of expenditure and deferring the revenue in a suspense receivable account.
During the six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company executed five joint operating agreements to participate as a non-operator in the drilling of five
horizontal wells. The Company has, on average, 2.78% working interest in each of these wells which are being drilled by reputable companies.
Results of Operations
Three months ended June 30, 2015 compared to three months ended June 30, 2014
For the
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2015
2014
Product
Oil (Bbl.)
Oil (Bbls)-average price (1)

$

2,875
47.57

$

10,918
89.72

Natural Gas (MCF)-volume
Natural Gas (MCF)-average price (2)

$

7,168
3.66

$

27,688
3.70

$

4,069
44
40.06

$

15,533
171
69.65

$

40.06

$

69.65

Production costs per BOE
Production taxes per BOE
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization per BOE
Total operating costs per BOE

$

16.42
1.08
46.96
64.46

$

14.24
6.52
36.72
57.55

Gross margin per BOE

$

(24.40)

$

12.10

Barrels of oil equivalent (BOE)
Average daily net production (BOE)
Average Price per BOE (1)
(1) Does not include the realized price effects of hedges
(2) Includes proceeds from the sale of NGL's
Oil and gas production costs, production taxes, depreciation, depletion, and amortization
Average Price per BOE(1)

Gross margin percentage
(1)

-61%

Does not include the realized price effects of hedges
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17%

Total revenues
Total revenues were $172,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2015, as compared to $1.12 million for the three months ended June 30, 2014, representing
a decrease of $952,000, or 85%. The decrease in revenues was due primarily to a decrease in production volumes relating to the conveyance of properties to
Hexagon on September 2, 2014. This decrease has been compounded by the 42% drop in realized price per BOE from $69.95 in 2014 to $40.06 in 2015.
During the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, oil and gas production amounts were 4,069 and 15,533 BOE, respectively, representing a decrease of
11,464 BOE, or 74%.
Commodity Price Derivative Activities
Changes in the market price of oil can significantly affect our profitability and cash flow. In the past we have entered into various commodity derivative
instruments to mitigate the risk associated with downward fluctuations in oil prices. These derivative instruments consisted exclusively of swaps. The
duration and size of our various derivative instruments varies and depends on our view of market conditions, available contract prices and our operating
strategy.
As of June 30, 2015, the Company did not maintain any active commodity swaps.
Production costs
Production costs were $67,000 during the three months ended June 30, 2015, compared to $221,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2014, representing a
decrease of $154,000 or 70%. The decrease in production costs were due primarily to a decrease in production volumes relating to the conveyance of
properties to Hexagon on September 2, 2014. Additionally, the wells conveyed to Hexagon were mature in nature resulting in higher operating costs as
compared to the wells retained.
Production taxes
Production taxes were $4,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2015, compared to $101,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2014, representing a
decrease of $97,000 or 96%. The decline in production taxes is consistent with the decline in production costs as expected given the property conveyance to
Hexagon in 2014.
General and administrative
General and administrative expenses were $3.05 million during the three months ended June 30, 2015, compared to $2.64 million during the three months
ended June 30, 2014, representing an increase of $410,000 or 15%. The $410,000 increase in cash general and administration costs compared to last year can
be attributed to increased compensation relating to additional employees along with higher contract services and legal costs. Non-cash general and
administrative items for the three months ended June 30, 2015 were $1.83 million as compared to $600,000 during the three months ending June 30, 2014,
representing an increase of $1.23 million or 205%. In 2015, the Company issued non-cash equity compensation to directors and employees for a total of $1.46
million and $371,000 of non-cash consulting fees, representing a $540,000 reduction from the $744,000 expense incurred in 2014. In 2014, the Company
incurred an additional $686,000 in placement agent fees relating to the conversion of its convertible debt.
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Depreciation, depletion, and amortization
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization were $191,000 during the three months ended June 30, 2015, as compared to $570,000 during the three months
ended June 30, 2014, representing a decrease of $379,000 or 66%. The decrease in depreciation, depletion and amortization was from a decrease in
production amounts in 2015 from 2014 primarily relating to the property conveyance to Hexagon, which offset $9.9 million transferred to the depletion pool
from unevaluated properties in 2014 resulting in an increased depletion rate. Production amounts decreased to 4,069 BOE from 15,533 BOE for the three
months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, representing a decrease of 11,464 BOE or 74%. Depreciation, depletion, and amortization per BOE
increased to $46.96 from $36.72, respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, an increase of $10.24, or 28%.
Impairment of evaluated oil and gas properties
Under the full cost method of accounting, capitalized oil and gas property costs less accumulated depletion and net of deferred income taxes may not exceed
an amount equal to the sum of the present value, discounted at 10%, of estimated future net revenues from proved oil and gas reserves and the cost of
unproved properties not subject to amortization (without regard to estimates of fair value), or estimated fair value, if lower, of unproved properties that are not
subject to amortization. Should capitalized costs exceed this ceiling, an impairment expense is recognized.
During the quarter ended June 30, 2015, the Company recognized an impairment expense on its evaluated oil and gas properties of $505,000. No impairment
was recognized during the three months ended June 30, 2014.
Interest Expense
For the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company incurred interest expense of approximately $554,000 and $2.14 million, respectively, of
which approximately $425,000 and $1.28 million, respectively, were non-cash interest expense and amortization of the deferred financing costs, accretion of
the Debentures payable discount, and Debenture interest paid in common stock.
Change in Bristol/Heartland warrant liability
The equity instruments issued to both Bristol and Heartland have an anti-dilution feature that will automatically reduce the exercise price if the Company
enters into another consulting agreement (in the case of Bristol) or any agreement (in the case of Heartland) pursuant to which warrants are issued at a lower
exercise price than $2.50 per share. The change in fair value of this warrant provision was $143,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2015.
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities
On January 31, 2014, the Company entered into a Debenture conversion agreement (the “Conversion Agreement”) with all of the holders of the Debentures.
Pursuant to the terms of the Conversion Agreement, $9.0 million in Debentures (approximately $8.73 million of principal and $270,000 in interest) was
converted by the holders to shares of Common Stock at a conversion price of $2.00 per share. In addition, the Company issued warrants to the Debenture
holders to purchase one share of Common Stock for each share issued in connection with the conversion of the Debentures, at an exercise price equal to $2.50
per share.
For the three months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, we incurred a change in the fair value of the derivative liability related to the Debentures of
approximately $162,000 and ($3.63 million), respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2014, we reduced the conversion price from $4.25 to $2.00,
consistent with the exercise price of the warrants issued in the private placement completed in January 2014 (the “January Private Placement”). The
conversion resulted in a reduction of the Debenture liability by $5.69 million and an increase in additional paid in capital.
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Results of Operations
Six months ended June 30, 2015 compared to six months ended June 30, 2014
For the
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2015
2014
Product
Oil (Bbl.)
Oil (Bbls)-average price (1)

$

4,810
47.01

$

19,373
86.70

Natural Gas (MCF)-volume
Natural Gas (MCF)-average price (2)

$

14,841
3.24

$

38,685
4.91

$

7,283
40
37.67

$

25,821
143
72.41

$

37.67

$

72.41

Production costs per BOE
Production taxes per BOE
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization per BOE
Total operating costs per BOE

$

11.98
2.09
59.68
73.75

$

24.69
7.55
37.14
69.38

Gross margin per BOE

$

(36.08)

$

3.03

Barrels of oil equivalent (BOE)
Average daily net production (BOE)
Average Price per BOE (1)
(1) Does not include the realized price effects of hedges
(2) Includes proceeds from the sale of NGL's
Oil and gas production costs, production taxes, depreciation, depletion, and amortization
Average Price per BOE(1)

Gross margin percentage
(1)

-96%

4%

Does not include the realized price effects of hedges

Total revenues
Total revenues were $290,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2015, as compared to $1.96 million for the six months ended June 30, 2014, representing a
decrease of $1.67 million, or 85%. The decrease in revenues was due primarily to a decrease in production volumes relating to the conveyance of properties
to Hexagon, LLC on September 2, 2014. This decrease has been compounded by the 48% drop in realized price per BOE from $72.41 in 2014 to $37.67 in
2015. During the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, oil and gas production amounts were 7,283 and 25,821 BOE, respectively, representing a
decrease of 18,538 BOE, or 72%.
Commodity Price Derivative Activities
Changes in the market price of oil can significantly affect our profitability and cash flow. In the past we have entered into various commodity derivative
instruments to mitigate the risk associated with downward fluctuations in oil prices. These derivative instruments consisted exclusively of swaps. The
duration and size of our various derivative instruments varies and depends on our view of market conditions, available contract prices and our operating
strategy.
As of June 30, 2015, the Company did not maintain any active commodity swaps.
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Production costs
Production costs were $87,000 during the six months ended June 30, 2015, compared to $638,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2014, representing a
decrease of $551,000 or 86%. The decrease in production costs were due primarily to a decrease in production volumes relating to the conveyance of
properties to Hexagon on September 2, 2014. Additionally, the wells conveyed to Hexagon were mature in nature resulting in higher operating costs as
compared to the wells retained.
Production taxes
Production taxes were $15,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2015, compared to $195,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2014, representing a
decrease of $180,000 or 92%. The decline in production taxes is consistent with the decline in production costs as expected given the property conveyance to
Hexagon in 2014.
General and administrative
General and administrative expenses were $5.40 million during the six months ended June 30, 2015, compared to $5.60 million during the six months ended
June 30, 2014, representing a decrease of $200,000 or 4%. The $200,000 increase in cash general and administration costs compared to last year can be
attributed to increased compensation relating to additional employees along with higher contract services and legal costs. Non-cash general and administrative
items for the six months ended June 30, 2015 were $2.66 million as compared to $2.28 million during the six months ending June 30, 2014, representing a
decrease of $380,000 or 17%. In 2015, the Company issued non-cash equity compensation to certain consultants for a total of $424,000, representing a
$140,000 reduction from the $564,000 incurred in 2014. In 2015, the Company issued non-cash compensation to directors and employees of $2.21 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2015. In 2014, the Company incurred an additional $686,000 in placement agent fees relating to the conversion of its
convertible debt.
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization were $435,000 during the six months ended June 30, 2015, as compared to $959,000 during the six months ended
June 30, 2014, representing a decrease of $524,000 or 55%. The decrease in depreciation, depletion and amortization was from a decrease in production
amounts in 2015 from 2014 primarily relating to the property conveyance to Hexagon, which offset $9.9 million transferred to the depletion pool from
unevaluated properties in 2014 resulting in an increased depletion rate. Production amounts decreased to 7,283 BOE from 25,821 BOE for the six months
ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, representing a decrease of 18,538 BOE or 72%. Depreciation, depletion, and amortization per BOE increased to
$59.68 from $37.14, respectively, for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, an increase of $22.54, or 61%.
Inducement expense
In January 2014, the Company entered into a conversion agreement (the “Conversion Agreement”) between the Company and all of the Company’s debenture
holders. Under the terms of the Conversion Agreement, $9.0 million of the approximately $15.6 million in debentures then outstanding converted to
Common Stock at a price of $2.00 per share. As an inducement to convert, the Company issued warrants to the converting debenture holders, at an exercise
price equal to $2.50 per share (the “Warrants”), for each share of Common Stock issued upon conversion of the debentures. The Company used a Lattice
model to value the warrants, utilizing a volatility of 65%, and a life of three years, which arrived at a fair value of $6.66 million for the Warrants and was
expensed immediately.
Impairment of evaluated oil and gas properties
Under the full cost method of accounting, capitalized oil and gas property costs less accumulated depletion and net of deferred income taxes may not exceed
an amount equal to the sum of the present value, discounted at 10%, of estimated future net revenues from proved oil and gas reserves and the cost of
unproved properties not subject to amortization (without regard to estimates of fair value), or estimated fair value, if lower, of unproved properties that are not
subject to amortization. Should capitalized costs exceed this ceiling, an impairment expense is recognized.
During the six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company recognized an impairment expense on its evaluated oil and gas properties of $5.97 million. No
impairment was recognized during the six months ended June 30, 2014.
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Interest Expense
For the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company incurred interest expense of approximately $775,000 and $3.35 million, respectively, of
which approximately $597,000 and $2.82 million, respectively, were non-cash interest expense and amortization of the deferred financing costs, accretion of
the Debentures payable discount, and Debenture interest paid in common stock.
Change in Bristol/Heartland warrant liability
The equity instruments issued to both Bristol and Heartland have an anti-dilution feature that will automatically reduce the exercise price if the Company
enters into another consulting agreement (in the case of Bristol) or any agreement (in the case of Heartland) pursuant to which warrants are issued at a lower
exercise price than $2.50 per share. The change in fair value of this warrant provision was $146,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2015.
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities
On January 31, 2014, the Company entered into the Conversion Agreement with all of the holders of the Debentures. Pursuant to the terms of the Conversion
Agreement, $9.0 million in Debentures (approximately $8.73 million of principal and $270,000 in interest) was converted by the holders to shares of
Common Stock at a conversion price of $2.00 per share. In addition, the Company issued warrants to the Debenture holders to purchase one share of
Common Stock for each share issued in connection with the conversion of the Debentures, at an exercise price equal to $2.50 per share.
For the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, we incurred a change in the fair value of the derivative liability related to the Debentures of approximately
$274,000 and $5.39 million, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2014, we reduced the conversion price from $4.25 to $2.00, consistent with
the exercise price of the warrants issued in the January Private Placement. The conversion resulted in a reduction of the convertible debenture liability by
$5.69 million and an increase in additional paid in capital.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements.
Overview of Our Business, Strategy, and Plan of Operations
We have acquired and developed a producing base of oil and natural gas proved reserves, as well as a portfolio of exploration and other undeveloped assets
with conventional and non-conventional reservoir opportunities, with an emphasis on those with multiple producing horizons, in particular the Muddy “J”
conventional reservoirs and the Niobrara shale and Codell formation resource plays. We believe these assets offer the possibility of repeatable year-over-year
success and significant and cost-effective production and reserve growth. Our acquisition, development and exploration pursuits are principally directed at oil
and natural gas properties in the DJ Basin in Colorado, Nebraska, and Wyoming. As of June 30, 2015, we owned interests in approximately 26,500 gross
(22,500 net) leasehold acres, of which 18,000 gross (14,500 net) acres are classified as undeveloped acreage and all of which are located in Colorado,
Wyoming and Nebraska within the DJ Basin. We are primarily focused on our North and South Wattenberg Field assets, which include attractive
unconventional reservoir drilling opportunities in mature development areas that offer low risk Niobrara and Codell formation productive potential. We also
believe that our conventional reservoir development potential in our Silo-East, Hanson and Wilke/Lukassen well areas will yield competitive results. We
expect to pursue an aggressive multi-well program.
Our intermediate goal is to create significant value via the investment of up to $50.0 million in our inventory of low and controlled-risk conventional and
unconventional properties, while maintaining a low cost structure. To achieve this, our business strategy includes the following elements:
Pursuing the initial development of our Greater Wattenberg Field unconventional assets. We plan to drill several horizontal wells on our South Wattenberg
property during 2016. Drilling activities will target the well-established Niobrara and Codell formations. Subject to securing additional capital, we expect to
drill and operate up to eight wells in 2016, with an expected investment of approximately $18.0 million.
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During the six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company executed five joint operating agreements to participate as a non-operator in the drilling of five
horizontal wells. The Company has, on average, 2.78% working interest in each of the wells which are drilled by reputable companies.
Extending the development of certain conventional prospects within our inventory of other DJ Basin properties. Subject to the securing of additional
capital, we anticipate the expenditure of up to an additional $50.0 million in drilling and development costs on three of our DJ Basin assets where initial
exploration has yielded positive results. Additional drilling activities will be conducted on each property in an effort to fully assess each property and define
field productivity and economic limits.
Retain Operational Control and Significant Working Interest. In our principal development targets, we typically seek to maintain operational control of our
development and drilling activities. As operator, we retain more control over the timing, selection and process of drilling prospects and completion design,
which enhances our ability to maximize our return on invested capital and gives us greater control over the timing, allocation and amounts of capital
expenditures. However, due to our recent liquidity difficulties, a significant amount of our current drilling activity on wells in which we own an interest is not
operated by us.
Leasing of Prospective Acreage. In the course of our business, we identify drilling opportunities on properties that have not yet been leased. Subject to
securing additional capital, we may take the initiative to lease prospective acreage and we may sell all or any portion of the leased acreage to other companies
that want to participate in the drilling and development of the prospect acreage.
Acreage. Currently, our inventory of developed and undeveloped acreage includes approximately 8,000 net acres that are held by production, approximately,
14,500, 2,000, 5,000 and 1,000 net acres that expire in the years 2015, 2016, 2017, and thereafter, respectively. Approximately 88% of our inventory of
undeveloped acreage provides for extension of lease terms from two to five years, at our option, via payment of varying, but typically nominal, extension
amounts. We are currently evaluating the 2015 lease expirations to determine if this acreage is a focus for future development. If determined to be a focus for
future development, we plan to re-lease if available. If not a focus, we plan to let the acreage expire. We plan to raise additional funds to acquire additional
bolt-on properties, acquire other properties throughout North America, or drill wells on our core properties to hold the property by production.
Capital Raising. The business of oil and natural gas property acquisition, exploration and development is highly capital intensive and the level of operations
attainable by oil and natural gas companies is directly linked to and limited by the amount of available capital. Therefore, a principal part of our plan of
operations is to raise the additional capital required to finance the exploration and development of our current oil and natural gas prospects and the acquisition
of additional properties. We will need to raise additional capital to fund our exploration and development, and operating, budget. We plan to seek additional
capital through the sale of our securities, through debt and project financing, joint venture agreements with industry partners, and through sale of assets. Our
ability to obtain additional capital through new debt instruments, project financing and sale of assets may be subject to the repayment of our existing debt
obligations.
Outsourcing. We intend to continue to use the services of independent consultants and contractors to provide various professional services, including land,
legal, environmental, technical, investor relations and tax services. We believe that by limiting our management and employee costs, we may be able to better
control lifting costs and retain G&A flexibility.
Hedging. From time to time, we use commodity price hedging instruments to reduce our exposure to oil and natural gas price fluctuations and to help ensure
that we have adequate cash flow to fund our debt service costs and capital programs. As such, we will enter into futures contracts, collars and basis swap
agreements, as well as fixed price physical delivery contracts. We intend to use hedging primarily to manage price risks and returns on certain acquisitions
and drilling programs. Our policy is to consider hedging an appropriate portion of our production at commodity prices we deem attractive. In the future we
may also be required by our lenders to hedge a portion of production as part of any financing.
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Marketing and Pricing
We derive revenue principally from the sale of oil and natural gas. As a result, our revenues are determined, to a large degree, by prevailing prices for crude
oil and natural gas. We sell our oil and natural gas on the open market at prevailing market prices or through forward delivery contracts. The market price for
oil and natural gas is dictated by both local and global supply and demand, and we cannot accurately predict or control the price we may receive for our oil
and natural gas.
Our revenues, cash flows, profitability and future rate of growth will depend substantially upon prevailing prices for oil and natural gas. Prices may also
affect the amount of cash flow available for capital expenditures and our ability to borrow money or raise additional capital. Lower prices may also adversely
affect the value of our reserves and make it uneconomical for us to commence or continue production levels of oil and natural gas. Historically, the prices
received for oil and natural gas have fluctuated widely. Among the factors that can cause these fluctuations are:
●

changes in global supply and demand for oil and natural gas;

●

the actions of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries, or OPEC;

●

the price and quantity of imports of foreign oil and natural gas;

●

acts of war or terrorism;

●

political conditions and events, including embargoes, affecting oil-producing activity;

●

the level of global oil and natural gas exploration and production activity;

●

the level of global oil and natural gas inventories;

●

weather conditions;

●

technological advances affecting energy consumption;

●

transportation options from trucking, rail, and pipeline; and

●

the price and availability of alternative fuels.

From time to time, we may enter into hedging arrangements to reduce our exposure to decreases in the prices of oil and natural gas. Hedging arrangements
may expose us to risk of significant financial loss in some circumstances including circumstances where:
●

our production and/or sales of natural gas are less than expected;

●

payments owed under derivative hedging contracts come due prior to receipt of the hedged month’s production revenue; or

●

the counter party to the hedging contract defaults on its contract obligations.

In addition, hedging arrangements may limit the benefit we would receive from increases in the prices for oil and natural gas. We cannot assure you that any
hedging transactions we may enter into will adequately protect us from declines in the prices of oil and natural gas. On the other hand, where we choose not
to engage in hedging transactions in the future, we may be more adversely affected by changes in oil and natural gas prices than our competitors who engage
in hedging transactions.
32

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the Company to make a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates. Management evaluates estimates and
assumptions on an ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors, including the current economic and commodity price environment. Although
actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions, the Company believes that its estimates are reasonable.
The most significant financial estimates are associated with the Company’s estimated volumes of proved oil and natural gas reserves, asset retirement
obligations, assessments of impairment imbedded in the carrying value of undeveloped acreage and undeveloped properties, fair value of financial
instruments, including derivative liabilities, depreciation and accretion, income taxes and contingencies.
Oil and Gas Producing Activities
The Company follows the full cost method of accounting for oil and gas operations whereby all costs related to the exploration, non-production related
development and acquisition of oil and natural gas reserves are capitalized. Such costs include land acquisition costs, geological and geophysical expenses,
carrying charges on non-producing properties, costs of drilling, developing and completing productive wells and/or plugging and abandoning non-productive
wells, and any other costs directly related to acquisition and exploration activities. Proceeds from property sales are generally applied as a credit against
capitalized exploration and development costs, with no gain or loss recognized, unless such a sale would significantly alter the relationship between
capitalized costs and the proved reserves attributable to these costs. A significant alteration would typically involve a sale of 25% or more of proved reserves.
The Company accounts for its unproven long-lived assets in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 360-10-05, Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. ASC Topic 360-10-05 requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the historical cost carrying value of an asset may no longer be appropriate.
Depletion of exploration and development costs and depreciation of wells and tangible production assets is computed using the units-of-production method
based upon estimated proved oil and gas reserves. Costs included in the depletion base to be amortized include (a) all proved capitalized costs including
capitalized asset retirement costs net of estimated salvage values, less accumulated depletion, (b) estimated future development costs to be incurred in
developing proved reserves; and (c) estimated decommissioning and abandonment/restoration costs, net of estimated salvage values, that are not otherwise
included in capitalized costs.
The costs of undeveloped acreage are withheld from the depletion base until it is determined whether or not proved reserves can be assigned to the properties.
When proved reserves are assigned to such properties or one or more specific properties are deemed to be impaired, the cost of such properties or the amount
of the impairment is added to the full cost pool which is subject to depletion calculations.
Under the full cost method of accounting, capitalized oil and gas property costs less accumulated depletion and net of deferred income taxes may not exceed
an amount equal to the sum of the present value, discounted at 10%, of estimated future net revenues from proved oil and gas reserves and the cost of
unproved properties not subject to amortization (without regard to estimates of fair value), or estimated fair value, if lower, of unproved properties that are not
subject to amortization. Should capitalized costs exceed this ceiling, an impairment expense is recognized. During the three and six months ended June 30,
2015, the Company recorded a $505,000 and a $5.967 million impairment, respectively. No impairment was recorded in 2014.
The present value of estimated future net cash flows was computed by applying a flat oil price to forecast revenues from estimated future production of
proved oil and gas reserves as of period-end, less estimated future expenditures to be incurred in developing and producing the proved reserves (assuming the
continuation of existing economic conditions), less any applicable future taxes.
Revenue Recognition
The Company derives revenue primarily from the sale of produced natural gas and crude oil. The Company reports revenue as the gross amount received
before taking into account production taxes and transportation costs, which are reported as separate expenses and are included in oil and gas production
expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Revenue is recorded in the month the Company’s production is delivered to the
purchaser, but payment is generally received between 30 and 90 days after the date of production. No revenue is recognized unless it is determined that title to
the product has transferred to the purchaser. At the end of each month, the Company estimates the amount of production delivered to the purchaser and the
price the Company will receive. The Company uses its knowledge of its properties, its historical performance, existing contracts, NYMEX and local spot
market prices, quality and transportation differentials, and other factors as the basis for these estimates.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In April 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs (“ASU 2015-03”). The
objective of ASU 2015-03 is to simplify the presentation of debt issuance costs in financial statements by presenting such costs in the balance sheet as a direct
deduction from the related debt liability rather than as an asset. ASU 2015-03 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after December 15, 2015 and should be applied retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this standard will not have material
impact on the Company’s financial statements, other than balance sheet reclassifications.
In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements – Going Concern (“ASU 2014-15”). The
objective of ASU 2014-15 is to provide guidance on management’s responsibility in evaluating whether there is substantial doubt about a company’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to provide related footnote disclosures. ASU 2014-15 is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2016, and
annual and interim periods thereafter. This standard is not expected to have an impact on the Company’s financial statements.
In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2014-09”). The objective of
ASU 2014-09 is to clarify the principles for recognizing revenue and to develop a common revenue standard for U.S. GAAP and International Financial

Reporting Standards. ASU 2014-09 is currently effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2017.
However, the FASB recently announced plans to defer the effective date of ASU 2014-09 for one year. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of
adopting ASU.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.
Not Applicable
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures
(as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Exchange Act) as of June 30, 2015. Disclosure
controls and procedures are controls and other procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in its reports filed or
submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s rules and forms and include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information that the Company is required to
disclose in such reports is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer
concluded that, as of June 30, 2015, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were still not effective, due to the material weaknesses in internal
controls over financial reporting described below.
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projection of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods is subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Based on the evaluation and the identification of the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting described below, our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of June 30, 2015, the Company’s internal controls and procedures were not effective.
A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement
of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. In connection with management’s assessment of our internal control over
financial reporting, conducted based on the Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO (2013), we identified the following material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014:
●

As a result of the resignation of our Chief Financial Officer as previously disclosed by way of the Company’s current report on Form 8-K filed on
May 19, 2014, we did not maintain effective monitoring controls and related segregation of duties over automated and manual journal entry
transaction processes.

●

As disclosed in our Form 8-K filed on November 13, 2014, the Company determined that during the fourth quarter of 2013 and the first three
quarters of 2014, there existed a material weakness with respect to the operation of the Company’s internal controls relating to the documentation
and authorization procedures of certain travel and entertaining expenses incurred by certain past and present officers in those periods.
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●

As disclosed previously, in February 2015, the Company discovered an error in the valuation of the conversion derivative liability of the Company’s
Debentures for the periods ended December 31, 2011, December 31, 2012, December 31, 2013, March 31, 2014 and June 30, 2014 (together, the
“Relevant Periods”). Specifically, the calculation of the conversion liability included in the Company’s financial statements for the Relevant Periods
only included the value of the price protection (anti-dilution) feature, when it should have included both the conversion option and the price
protection embedded in the Debentures. The changes in the value of the derivative resulted in changes to the Company’s financial statements, which
warranted restatement of the Company’s Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarters ended September 30, 2013, March 31, 2014 and
June 30, 2014.

Because of the material weaknesses described above, management has concluded that we did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting
as of March 31, 2015, based on the Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO (2013).
Remediation Efforts
We have already implemented and plan to continue to make necessary changes and improvements to the overall design of our control environment to address
the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting described above. In particular, we have hired and expect to hire additional employees,
independent contractors and consultants to assist with strengthening the segregation of duties and control activities in journal entry processing and complex
accounting issues such as those related to our Debentures. We have also hired an external expert to help with the valuation of Debentures. Additionally, we
have begun to perform an analysis of all automated and manual procedures to strengthen the effectiveness of our segregation of duties and control
environment. At any time, if it appears any control can be implemented to mitigate risks, it is immediately implemented.
In the fourth quarter of 2014, we implemented a new extensive Travel and Expense policy which all employees and directors are required to review and sign.
Furthermore, the Company has required all employees and directors to review and sign all of the Company’s corporate documents which include, but are not
limited to, the Code of Ethics, Travel and Expense Policy, and Corporate Governance Policy. The Company is planning to test the remediation periodically
and fully remediate the weakness by the end of this fiscal year.
In March 2015, we appointed Kevin Nanke Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Nanke has and will continue to bring additional
oversight in financial reporting and strengthen the segregation of duties.
Management believes through their appointment of a new Chief Financial Officer and the implementation of the foregoing policies, the Company will
significantly improve our control environment, the completeness and accuracy of underlying accounting data and the promptness with which we are able to
close our books. Management is committed to continuing efforts aimed at fully achieving an operationally effective control environment and timely filing of
required regulatory financial information. The remediation efforts noted above are subject to our internal control assessment, testing, and evaluation
processes. While these efforts continue, we will rely on additional substantive procedures and other measures as needed to assist us with meeting the
objectives otherwise fulfilled by an effective control environment.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Other than those described above, management has determined that there were no changes in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting during
the second quarter of 2015 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
Parker v. Tracinda Corporation, Denver District Court, Case No. 2011CV561. In November 2012, the Company filed a motion to intervene in garnishment
proceedings involving Roger Parker, the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer and Chairman. The Defendant, Tracinda, served various writs of
garnishment on the Company to enforce a judgment against Mr. Parker seeking, among other things, shares of unvested restricted stock. The Company
asserted rights to lawful set-offs and deductions in connection with certain tax consequences, which may be material to the Company. The underlying
judgment against Mr. Parker was appealed to the Colorado Court of Appeals and, by Order dated October 17, 2013, that Court reversed the trial court with
respect to Mr. Parker’s claims of waiver, estoppel and mitigation of damages and remanded with instruction to enter judgment for Mr. Parker. The Court of
Appeals also ordered the trial court to conduct further proceedings to determine the amount of damages to award Mr. Parker on his breach of contract claim.
The trial court conducted a later hearing and found in its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order dated January 9, 2015, in favor of Mr. Parker on his
claim for breach of contract, awarding him $6,981,302.60.Tracinda’s Motion for Amendment of the Court’s January 9 Findings and Conclusions was the
subject of an Order dated April 10, 2015, in which the Court set off the award in favor of Mr. Parker against the award in favor of Tracinda, resulting in
judgment in favor of Tracinda and against Mr. Parker in the amount of $625,572.10. On April 16, 2015, Tracinda filed a Notice of Appeal in the Colorado
Court of Appeals, appealing both the January 9 Order and the April 10 Order. On May 18, 2015, Parker filed a Notice of Cross-Appeal in the Colorado Court
of Appeals, cross-appealing both the January 9 Order and the April 10 Order. The record is in the process of being certified. The filing of the record will
trigger the parties' briefing schedule.
In re Roger A. Parker: Tracinda Corp. v. Recovery Energy, Inc. and Roger A. Parker, United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Colorado, Case No.
13-10897-EEB. On June 10, 2013, Tracinda Corp. (“Tracinda”) filed a complaint (Adversary No. 13-011301 EEB) against the Company and Roger Parker in
connection with the personal bankruptcy proceedings of Roger Parker, alleging that the Company improperly failed to remit to Tracinda certain property in
connection with a writs of garnishment issued by the Denver District Court (discussed above). The Company filed an answer to this complaint on July 10,
2013. A trial date has not been set and, by Order dated February 2, 2015, the Bankruptcy Court ordered that the Adversary Proceeding be held in abeyance
pending final resolution of the state-court action (2011CV561). The Company is unable to predict the timing and outcome of this matter.
Lilis Energy, Inc. v. Great Western Operating Company LLC, Eighth Judicial District Court for Clark County, Nevada, Case No. A-15-714879-B. On March
6, 2015, the Company filed a lawsuit against Great Western Operating Company, LLC (the “Operator”). The dispute related to the Company’s interest in
certain producing wells and the Operator’s assertion that the Company’s interest was reduced and/or eliminated as a result of a default or a farm-out
agreement. Underlying the dispute is the JOA which provides the parties with various rights and obligations. In its complaint, the Company sought monetary
damages and declaratory relief on claims of breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, tortious breach of the implied
covenant of good faith and fair dealing, unjust enrichment, conversion and declaratory judgment related to the JOA. The Operator filed a motion to dismiss on
May 26, 2015 and we responded by filing an opposition motion on June 12, 2015.
On July 7, 2015, as previously reported, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with the Operator. The Settlement
Agreement provides that upon Lilis’ payment to the Operator, net of the revenues owed to Lilis based on Lilis’ respective working interests in the subject
wells of (i) the balance of its share of the costs and expenses of drilling, completion and operating costs of the subject wells, (ii) interest due on that amount
and (iii) a penalty fee of $250,000, Lilis shall have its full rights restored in the subject wells and return to having all rights and obligations under the JOA.
This includes the right to participate in any future proposed wells at Lilis’ full interest under the JOA as if Lilis had participated and paid its proportionate
share of costs of the subject wells prior to the notices of default sent to the Company by the Operator. Pursuant to the JOA, Lilis will regain an approximately
50% working interest in each of two Wattenberg horizontal wells (1 Niobrara and 1 Codell), an approximately 33% working interest in a third well
(Niobrara), and an approximately 50% working interest in the remaining leasehold.
The Company believes there is no other litigation pending that could have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on its results of
operations or financial condition.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not required to provide the information under
this item.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
None.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
Exhibit
Number
2.1
2.2
2,3
10.1†
10.2†
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Exhibit Description
Asset Purchase Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s current report on Form 8-K filed on May 5,
2015).
First Amendment to the Asset Purchase Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s current report on Form
8-K filed on June 11, 2015).
Second Amendment to the Asset Purchase Agreement, dated June 30, 2015.
Form of Non-Employee Director Award Agreement.
Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement.
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Schema
XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase

† Indicates a management contract or any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Abraham Mirman
Abraham Mirman

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

August 19, 2015

/s/ Kevin Nanke
Kevin Nanke

Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

August 19, 2015
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number
2.1
2.2
2.3
10.1†
10.2†
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Exhibit Description
Asset Purchase Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s current report on Form 8-K filed on May 5,
2015).
First Amendment to the Asset Purchase Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s current report on Form
8-K filed on June 11, 2015).
Second Amendment to the Asset Purchase Agreement, dated June 30, 2015.
Form of Non-Employee Director Award Agreement.
Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement.
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Schema
XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase

† Indicates a management contract or any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.
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Exhibit 2.3
SECOND AMENDMENT TO ASSET PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT
This Second Amendment to Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement (this “Amendment”) is entered into as of June 30, 2015, by and between SWAN
EXPLORATION LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (“Seller”), and LILIS ENERGY, INC., a Nevada corporation (“Purchaser”). Seller and Purchaser
are sometimes collectively referred to herein as the “Parties,” or individually as a “Party.”
RECITALS
A.
Seller and Purchaser previously entered into an Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement dated April 30, 2015, as amended by a First Amendment
to Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of June 9, 2015 (collectively, the “Agreement”), for the purchase and sale of certain Properties and Assets
located in Weld County, Colorado. Capitalized terms used by not defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Agreement.
B.

The Parties desire to amend the Agreement to provide for extension of the Closing Date in the Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual agreements and the payments, conveyances and assignments provided for
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:
1.
Purchaser shall pay to Seller an extension fee in the amount of $2,500.00 in immediately available funds (the “First Extension Fee”) no later
than 5:00 o’clock p.m. local Denver, Colorado time on July 1, 2015. The First Extension Fee is consideration to Seller for extending the Closing Date until
July 13, 2015, as provided in paragraph 2 below, is non-refundable, and is not to be applied as a credit to the Purchase Price.
2.

Section 12.1 is hereby deleted in its entirety, and replaced with the following:
“12.1 Time and Place of the Closing. The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Closing”)
shall occur at 10:00 a.m. local Denver, Colorado time on July 13, 2015 (such date, or any subsequent date as determined
pursuant to Section 12.2, the “Closing Date”). The Closing shall take place at the offices of Seller in Greenwood Village,
Colorado, or such other place as the Parties may agree upon.”

3.

Section 12.2 is hereby deleted in its entirety, and replaced with the following:
“12.2 Change of the Closing Date. Purchaser shall have the options to further extend the Closing Date, subject to the
following terms and conditions:
12.2.1 In the event Closing does not take place on July 13, 2015, then Purchaser may further extend the Closing Date to July
27, 2015, by paying to Seller an extension fee in the amount of $150,000.00 in immediately available funds (the “Second
Extension Fee”) no later than 5:00 o’clock p.m. local Denver, Colorado time on July 13, 2015. The Second Extension Fee is
consideration to Seller for extending the Closing Date until July 27, 2015, as provided in this Section 12.2.1, is nonrefundable, and is not to be applied as a credit to the Purchase Price.

12.2.2 In the event Closing does not take place on July 27, 2015, then Purchaser may further extend the Closing Date to
August 10, 2015, by paying to Seller an extension fee in the amount of $250,000.00 in immediately available funds (the
“Third Extension Fee”) no later than 5:00 o’clock p.m. local Denver, Colorado time on July 27, 2015. The Third Extension
Fee is consideration to Seller for extending the Closing Date until August 10, 2015, as provided in this Section 12.2.2, is
non-refundable, and is not to be applied as a credit to the Purchase Price.
4.
Seller shall deliver the Closing Adjustment Statement to Purchaser no later than 5:00 o’clock p.m. on July 9, 2015; provided, however, in the
event the Closing does not occur on July 13, 2015, and Purchaser timely elects to extend the Closing Date as provided in Section 12.2 of the Agreement, then
Seller shall deliver the Closing Adjustment Statement to Purchaser no later than 5:00 o’clock p.m. local Denver Colorado time on the date that is three (3)
business days prior to the scheduled Closing Date. The Parties shall have the rights and obligations with respect to the Closing Adjustment Statement as set
forth in Section 12.3 of the Agreement; provided, however, that upon approval by the Parties of the Closing Adjustment Statement no further changes will be
made thereto except for the items of revenue and expense contemplated by Section 2.4.3 and Section 2.4.7 of the Agreement, with any such changes being
subject to due diligence review by Purchaser.
5.

Except as amended by this Amendment, the Parties each hereby ratify each of the remaining terms and provisions of the Agreement.

6.
This Amendment may be executed in counterparts and delivered via facsimile or by other electronic delivery, each of which will be an original
and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
[Signatures Appear On Following Page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Second Amendment to Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement has been signed by each of the Parties as of the date first
written above.

SELLER:

SWAN EXPLORATION LLC,
a Colorado limited liability company
By:

PURCHASER:

/s/ Brandon Davis
Brandon Davis,
Manager/CEO

LILIS ENERGY, INC.,
a Nevada corporation
By:
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/s/ Kevin Nanke
Kevin Nanke,
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 10.1
Form of Non-Employee Director Award Agreement
This Non-Employee Director Appointment Agreement ("Agreement"), is effective as of [
Energy, Inc. a Nevada corporation (the "Company") and [
] ("Director").

] (the "Effective Date"), by and between Lilis

WHEREAS, the Company wishes to retain Director's services as a non-employee director of the Company (a "Non-Employee Director") under the
terms set forth herein; and
WHEREAS, the Director wishes to perform the services of a Non-Employee Director of the Company.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants set forth below, the parties agree as follows:
1.
Appointment: The Company has appointed Director as a director on the board of directors (the "Board") of the Company, and Director has accepted
such position, on the terms and conditions set forth below. Director's authority shall be consistent with that normally associated with and appropriate for such
a position.
2.

Start Date: Director's appointment to the Board was on [

3.

Compensation and Expenses:

] (the "Appointment Date").

(a) Stock Compensation:
(i)
Initial Grant. On [
], the Company issued to Director 100,000 shares (the "Initial Grant") of the Company's common stock,
par value $0.0001 (the "Common Stock"), which Common Stock shall vest, subject to acceleration as provided below, in the following increments
on the specified dates, so long as Director is a director on such date:
(A)

33,334 shares shall vest on the [first anniversary of the Appointment Date];

(B)

33,333 shares shall vest on [the second anniversary of the Appointment Date]; and

(C)

33,333 shares shall vest on [the third anniversary of the Appointment Date].

(ii)
Annual Grants. On each annual anniversary of the Appointment Date, so long as Director is a director on such date, the Company
shall issue to Director a number of shares of Common Stock equal to $60,000 divided by the most recent per share closing price of the Common
Stock on the national securities exchange on which the Common Stock is traded prior to the date of each annual grant, or if the Company is not listed
on a national exchange, the fair market value of the Common Stock as determined by the Board in good faith on such date, which Common Stock
shall be fully vested upon issuance.
(iii)
Acceleration of Vesting. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the Initial Grant and any other grants of Common Stock to
Director not then vested shall vest upon the earlier to occur of a Change in Control (as defined below) of the Company (provided Director is a
director immediately prior to the Change in Control).

For purposes of this Agreement, "Change in Control" shall mean the occurrence, subsequent to the Effective Date, of any of the following: (A) by a
transaction or series of transactions, any "person" or "group" (within the meaning of Section 13 (d) and 14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the "Exchange Act")), becomes the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of more than 30%
of the combined voting power of the Company's then outstanding securities (provided such person or group was not a beneficial owner of more than 30% of
the combined voting power of the Company's then outstanding securities as of the Effective Date); (B) as a result of any merger, consolidation, combination
or sale or issuance of securities of the Company, or as a result of or in connection with a contested election of directors, the persons who were directors of the
Company as of the Effective Date cease to constitute a majority of the Board; (C) by a transaction or series of transactions, the authority of the Board over
any activities of the Company becomes subject to the consent, agreement or cooperation of a third party other than shareholders of the Company.
(b) Cash Compensation:
(i)
Award Amount. On a quarterly basis beginning at the end of the first full quarter following the Appointment Date, the Company
shall pay to Director $15,000 in cash compensation as director's fees.
(ii)
Award Amount for Committee Chairman. On a quarterly basis, beginning at the end of the first full quarter following the
appointment of Director to Chairman of the Board, Chairman of the Audit Committee or Chairman of the Compensation Committee, the Company
shall pay to Director $12,500, $6,250 and $6,250 respectively in cash compensation as director's fees.
(iii)
Election to Receive Common Stock. At the Director’s election, in lieu of a cash payment referred to in Sections (i and ii) (or a
portion thereof, as elected by Director), Director may receive a number of shares of Common Stock (excluding fractional shares, which shall be paid
in cash (or carried over to the next payment if a Director elects to be paid all in Common Stock), which is calculated by dividing the value of cash
compensation (or a portion thereof), by the most recent per share closing price of the Common Stock on the national securities exchange on which
the Common Stock is traded prior to the date of each annual or quarterly grant, as the case may be, or if the Company is not listed on a national
exchange, the fair market value of the Common Stock as determined by the Board in good faith on such date, which Common Stock shall be fully
vested upon issuance. To be effective, any such election shall be made by submitting a completed and executed election form (the “Election Form) to
the Secretary of the Company, an in accordance with the terms specified in the Election Form.
4.
Scope of Responsibilities. As a Non-Employee Director, subject to the terms of the immediately following paragraph, Director shall be responsible
for contributing to the development and implementation of the Company's strategic plan, locating and reviewing prospective acquisition targets, overseeing
the development plan of acquired properties, and providing input on the Company's development plan. Director shall provide those services required of a
director under the Company's articles of incorporation and bylaws, as both may be amended from time to time, and under the Nevada Revised Statutes, the
federal securities laws and other state and federal laws and regulations, as applicable; provided, however, in the event of a conflict or inconsistency between
this Agreement and any governing document of the Company, the governing document of the Company shall control. In performing such activities, Director
will devote only such time as he in his sole discretion deems necessary and appropriate.
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Director for his own account and in collaboration with others is engaged in and will continue to be engaged in oil and gas exploration, development
and production outside of the Company's business. The Company expressly acknowledges and agrees that if Director becomes aware of a business
opportunity, he shall have no affirmative duty to present or make such opportunity available to the Company. Furthermore, in the event Director pursues an
opportunity for his own account or in collaboration with others, the Company shall not be entitled to any interest in or profits from such property or otherwise
claim any right or damages resulting from Director's pursuit of such opportunity.
The relationship between the parties shall be that of non-employee contracting parties. The Board and the Company expressly acknowledge and
agree that neither shall have the right to direct Director with respect to the means or manner in which he fulfills his obligations and responsibilities under this
Agreement. The Board and the Company are solely interested in the results obtained by Director in connection with his performance of services required
hereunder. Except as specifically provided in this Agreement, the Company hereby waives any conflict or potential conflict resulting from Director's activities
conducted apart from the business of the Company.
5.
Representations and Warranties. The Company represents and warrants to Director that this Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and
delivered by the Company and, upon execution by Director, constitutes a legal, valid and binding agreement of the Company, enforceable against the
Company in accordance with its terms.
6.
Indemnity. The Company agrees that if Director is made a party to or is threatened to be made a party to any action, suit or proceeding, whether
civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (a "Proceeding"), by reason of the fact that Director is or was a trustee, director or officer of the Company or
any predecessor or successor to the Company or any of their affiliates or is or was serving at the request of the Company, any predecessor or successor to the
Company or any of their affiliates as a trustee, director, officer, member, employee or agent of another corporation or a partnership, joint venture, limited
liability company, trust or other enterprise, including, without limitation, service with respect to employee benefit plans, whether or not the basis of such
Proceeding alleges action in an official capacity as a trustee, director, officer, member, employee or agent while serving as a trustee, director, officer, member,
employee or agent, Director shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Company to the fullest extent authorized by Nevada law, as the same exists or may
hereafter be amended, against all Costs (as defined below) incurred or suffered by Director in connection therewith, and such indemnification shall be deemed
to have commenced as of the Appointment Date and shall continue as to Director even if he has ceased to be an officer, director, trustee or agent, or is no
longer employed by the Company and shall inure to the benefit of his heirs, executors and administrators. The foregoing indemnity is contractual and will
survive any adverse amendment to or repeal of the bylaws or any other governing document of the Company.
(a)
Costs. For purposes of this Section 6, the term "Costs" shall include, without limitation unless deemed for cause, damages, losses,
judgments, liabilities, fines, penalties, excise taxes, settlements, and costs, attorneys' fees, accountants' fees, and disbursements and costs of attachment or
similar bonds, investigations, and any expenses of establishing a right to indemnification under this Agreement.
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(b)
Enforcement. If a claim or request under this Section 6 is not paid by the Company or on its behalf, within thirty (30) days after a written
claim or request has been received by the Company, Director may at any time thereafter bring suit against the Company to recover the unpaid amount of the
claim or request and if successful in whole or in part, Director be entitled to be paid also the expenses of prosecuting such suit. All obligations for
indemnification hereunder shall be subject to, and paid in accordance with, applicable Nevada law.
(c)
Payment of Costs. Costs incurred by Director in connection with any Proceeding shall be paid by the Company within thirty (30) days'
notice of Director's request for such payment, provided that Director has delivered to the Company written notification of (i) his agreement to reimburse the
Company for Costs with respect to which Director is not eligible for payment or reimbursement, and (ii) a statement of his good faith belief that he has
satisfied the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification under this Section 6.
(d)
Insurance. The Company will maintain a Director's and Officer's Insurance Policy naming Director as a covered party in amount deemed
mutually sufficient to the Company and Director.
7.
Survival of Certain Provisions. The representations, warranties and covenants and indemnity provisions contained in Sections 5 and 6 of this
Agreement and the Company's obligation to pay or issue to Director, or to cause Director to vest in, any compensation or compensatory awards earned
pursuant hereto shall remain operative and in full force and effect regardless of any completion or termination of this Agreement and shall be binding upon,
and shall inure to the benefit of any successors, assigns, heirs and personal representatives of the Company, the indemnified parties and any such person.
8.
Notices. Notice given pursuant to any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be mailed or delivered (a) if to the Company,
at its offices at 1900 Grant Street, Suite 720, Denver Colorado 80203, attention Chief Executive Officer, with a copy to Ariella Fuchs, Esq., General Counsel.
9.
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed simultaneously in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of
which shall constitute one and the same instrument.
10.
Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement has been and is made solely for the benefit of the Parties hereto, and their respective successors and
assigns, and no other person shall acquire or have any right under or by virtue of this Agreement.
11.
Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable
law, but if any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any applicable law or rule in any jurisdiction,
such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability will not affect any other provision or any other jurisdiction but this Agreement will be reformed, construed and
enforced in such jurisdiction as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein.
12.
Legal Fees. If any arbitration or litigation shall rise between the Company and Director regarding any provision of this Agreement, the Company
shall reimburse Director for all legal fees and expenses incurred by him in connection with such contest or dispute unless an unlawful act has preceded, but
only if Director substantially prevails in such action. Such reimbursement shall be made as soon as practicable following the resolution of such contest or
dispute (whether or not appealed) to the extent the Company receives reasonable written evidence of such fees and expenses.
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13.
Reimbursement of Expenses. Director shall be reimbursed by the Company for all ordinary and necessary expenses incurred by Director in the
performance of his duties or otherwise in furtherance of the business of the Company, as well as any expenses specified in this Agreement, in accordance with
the policies of the Company in effect from time to time. No reimbursement will be made later than the close of the calendar year following the calendar year
in which the expense was incurred. Expenses eligible for payment or reimbursement in any one taxable year shall not affect the amount of expenses eligible
for payment or reimbursement in any other taxable year, and the right to expense payment or reimbursement shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange
for any other benefit.
14.
Modification; Entire Agreement. No provisions of this Agreement may be amended, modified, or waived unless such amendment or modification
is agreed to in writing signed by Director and by a duly authorized officer of the Company, and such waiver is set forth in writing and signed by the party to
be charged. No waiver by either party hereto at any time of any breach by the other party hereto of any condition or provision of this Agreement to be
performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver of similar or dissimilar provisions or conditions at the same or at any prior or subsequent time. No
agreements or representations, oral or otherwise, express or implied, with respect to the subject matter hereof have been made by either party which are not
set forth expressly in this Agreement. The respective rights and obligations of the parties hereunder of this Agreement shall survive the termination of this
Agreement to the extent necessary for the intended preservation of such rights and obligations. Except or otherwise provided in Section 8 herein, the validity,
interpretation, construction and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Colorado without regard to its conflicts of law
principles.
15.
Choice of Law, Jurisdiction and Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by, construed, and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of
Colorado, without regard to Colorado's choice of law rules. Any and all actions, suits, or judicial proceedings upon any claim arising from or relating to this
Agreement, subject to Section 8 herein, shall be instituted and maintained in the State of Colorado. If it is judicially determined that either party may file an
action, suit or judicial proceeding in federal court, such action, suit or judicial proceeding shall be in the Federal District Court for the District of Colorado.
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The parties' authorized representatives have executed this Agreement as of the date above.
[DIRECTOR]

Lilis Energy, Inc.

By:

By:
Name: Kevin Nanke
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 10.2
LILIS ENERGY, INC. 2012 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR STOCK OPTION AWARD AGREEMENT
This Stock Option Award Agreement (the "Agreement"), is made as of the [
corporation (the "Company"), and [
] (the "Participant").

] day of [

], by and between Lilis Energy, Inc., a Nevada

WHEREAS, the Company desires to encourage and enable the Participant to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company through ownership of
shares of the Company's Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the "Shares"), pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Company's 2012 Equity
Incentive Plan, as amended (the "Plan"), and this Agreement. Such ownership will provide the Participant with additional incentive to promote the success of
the Company.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter set forth and for other good and valuable consideration, the parties agree
as follows:
1.

Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, all capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to
them in the Plan.

2.

Grant of Option. The Company hereby grants to the Participant options (the "Options") to purchase 250,000 Shares at the exercise price (the
"Exercise Price") of $[ ] per Share (the “Initial Grant Options”) and 200,000 options (the “Follow-On Options” and together with the Initial Grant
Options, the “Options”), subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan.

3.

Expiration Date. The Options granted hereby shall expire upon the earlier of (a) five (5) years from the date the Options vest and become
exercisable pursuant to Section 4 or (b) [ten year anniversary of the date first set forth herein] (such date being the "Expiration Date"). Except as may
be otherwise set forth herein, the Options may not be exercised after the Expiration Date.

4.

Vesting.
(i) The Initial Grant Options shall vest and be exercisable by the Participant on the date first set forth herein.
(ii) The Follow-On Options shall vest and be exercisable by the Participant in accordance with the following schedule:

5.

Date
[first anniversary of date first set forth herein]

Number Options Vested
66,667 Options

[second anniversary of date first set forth herein]

66,667 Options

[third anniversary of date first set forth herein]

66,666 Options

Separation from Service.
(a)

If the Participant's service is terminated by the Company for Cause (as defined in the Plan), then all options shall immediately terminate and
no longer be exercisable.

(b)

If the Participant terminates his service, then all Options shall terminate and no longer be exercisable on the date that is 90 days after the
date of termination of the Participant's Continuous Service (as defined in the Plan), but not later than the Expiration Date. No Options shall
vest following the date of termination of the Participant's Continuous Service (as defined in the Plan).

(c)

If, before the Expiration Date, the Participant's service is terminated by the Company other than for Cause (as defined in the Plan), upon a
Change in Control (as defined in the Plan) of the Company or upon the death or Disability (as defined in the Plan) of the Participant, then,
all unexercisable Options shall become exercisable and remain exercisable until the Expiration Date. All vested Options not exercised
within the period described in the preceding sentence shall terminate.

(d)

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in the event of Participant's Disability (as defined in the Plan), the Participant may exercise
the Options at any time within one (1) year after the Date of Termination (as defined in the Plan) but not later than the Expiration Date.

(e)

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in the event of Participant's death or if a Participant should die within a period of 90 days
after termination of the Participant's Continuous Service for reason other than Cause (as defined in the Plan), the personal representatives of
the Participant's estate or the person or persons who shall have acquired the Options from the Participant by bequest or inheritance may
exercise the Options at any time within one (1) year after the date of death, but not later than the Expiration Date.

6.

Sale, Merger or Dissolution. In the event of a Change in Control, the Company shall give the Participant notice thereof and the Options, whether or
not currently vested and exercisable, shall become immediately vested and exercisable immediately prior to the effective date of such event, and the
Board shall have the power and discretion to provide alternatives regarding the terms and conditions for the exercise of, or modification of, the
Options in accordance with the Plan.

7.

Non-Assignability. The Option granted hereby and any right arising thereunder may not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated (whether
by operation of law or otherwise), except by will or the applicable laws of descent and distribution, and the Options and any rights arising thereunder
shall not be subject to execution, attachment or similar process. The Options shall be exercisable during the lifetime of the Participant only by the
Participant. Any attempted assignment, transfer, pledge, hypothecation or other disposition of an Option not specifically permitted herein or in the
Plan shall be null and void and without effect.

8.

Mode of Exercise.
(a)
The Options may be exercised by delivery of an irrevocable notice of exercise in by the Participant to the Company, stating the number of
shares being purchased.
(b)
The right to receive the Shares of the Company's Common Stock upon exercise of the Options shall beconditioned upon the delivery by the
Participant of payment for shares and withholding taxes incurred by reason of the exercise and certain representations, if requested by the
Administrator. Acceptable forms of consideration for exercising the Options may include:
(i)

cash, check or wire transfer (denominated in U.S. Dollars);

(ii)
subject to the Company's discretion to refuse for any reason and at any time to accept such consideration and subject to any
conditions or limitations established by the Administrator, other shares of the Company's Common Stock held by the Participant which have a
Fair Market Value on the date of surrender equal to the aggregate exercise price of the Options to be exercised;
(iii)
delivery of a notice that the Participant has placed a market sell order with a broker with respect to the Shares then issuable
upon exercise of the Options, and that the broker has been directed to pay a sufficient portion of the net proceeds of the sale to the Company in
satisfaction of the aggregate payments required; provided, that payment of such proceeds is then made to the Company upon settlement of such
sale;
(iv)
subject to the Company's discretion to refuse for any reason and at any time to accept such consideration and subject to any
conditions or limitations established by the Administrator, cashless "net exercise" arrangement pursuant to which the Company will reduce the
number of shares issued upon exercise by the largest whole number of shares having an aggregate Fair Market Value that does not exceed the
aggregate exercise price, together with required withholding amounts (if any), provided that the Company shall accept a cash or other payment
from the Participant to the extent of any remaining balance not satisfied by such reduction in the number of whole shares to be issued;
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(v)
such other consideration and method of payment for the issuance of Shares of Common Stock to the extent permitted by
Applicable Laws and acceptable to the Administrator; and any combination of the foregoing methods of payment.
9.

Recapitalization. The number of Shares covered by the Options and the Exercise Price shall be proportionately adjusted for any increase or decrease
in the number or type of issued Shares resulting from a stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, combination or reclassification of the
Common Stock, or any other increase or decrease in the number of issued shares of Common Stock effected without receipt of consideration by the
Company. The conversion of any convertible securities of the Company shall not be deemed to have been "effected without receipt of consideration."
Such adjustment shall be made by the Board, whose determination in that respect shall be final, binding and conclusive.

10. Plan Controlling. This Agreement is intended to conform in all respects with the requirements of the Plan. Inconsistencies between the
requirements of this Agreement and the Plan shall be resolved according to the terms of the Plan. The Participant acknowledges receipt of a copy of
the Plan.
11. Rights Prior to Exercise of Option. The Participant shall not have any rights as a shareholder with respect to any Shares subject to the Option prior
to the date on which he is recorded as the holder of such Shares on the records of the Company.
12. Withholding Taxes. The Company shall have the right to require the Participant or his beneficiaries or legal representatives to remit to the
Company, in cash, an amount sufficient to satisfy any federal, state and local withholding tax requirements, including upon the grant, vesting or
exercise of this Option. Whenever payments under the Plan or this Agreement are to be made to any Participant in cash, such payments shall be net
of any amounts sufficient to satisfy all applicable taxes, including without limitation, all applicable federal, state and local withholding tax
requirements to be withheld or submitted by the Company concerning such payments. The Board may, in its sole discretion, allow the Participant to
satisfy withholding tax obligations by electing to have the Company withhold from the Shares to be issued upon exercise of an Option that number
of Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum amount required to be withheld. The Fair Market Value of the Shares to be withheld
shall be determined on the date that the amount of tax to be withheld is to be determined.
13. Section 409A. The Options granted hereunder are intended to comply with or be exempt from the requirements of Code Section 409A, and the
Agreement shall be interpreted accordingly. In no event, however, shall the Company be liable to the Participant for any tax, penalties or interest that
may be due in respect of any the Options as a result of the application of Code Section 409A.
14. Governing Law. This Agreement and all rights arising hereunder shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the laws
of the State of Colorado.
NEITHER THE PLAN NOR THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED AS GIVING THE PARTICIPANT THE RIGHT TO BE RETAINED IN THE
EMPLOY OR SERVICE OF THE COMPANY OR ANY AFFILIATE THEREOF, NOR SHALL THEY INTERFERE IN ANY WAY WITH THE RIGHT
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY AFFILIATE THEREOF, AS APPLICABLE, TO TERMINATE THE PARTICIPANT'S EMPLOYMENT OR SERVICE AT
ANY TIME WITH OR WITHOUT CAUSE.
REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have signed this certificate as of the date first written above.
LILIS ENERGY, INC.
By:
Name: Kevin Nanke
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
PARTICIPANT
By:
Name: [

]
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Abraham Mirman, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Lilis Energy, Inc. ("Registrant");

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The Registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the Registrant and have:

5.

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the Registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The Registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant's auditors and the audit committee of Registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the Registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ Abraham Mirman
Abraham Mirman
Chief Executive Officer
August 19, 2015

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Kevin Nanke, certify that:
1

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Lilis Energy, Inc. ("Registrant");

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The Registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the Registrant and have:

5.

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the Registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The Registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant's auditors and the audit committee of Registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the Registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ Kevin Nanke
Kevin Nanke
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer
August 19, 2015

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Lilis Energy, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2015, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2)
Company.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

/s/ Abraham Mirman
Abraham Mirman
Chief Executive Officer
August 19, 2015

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Lilis Energy, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2015, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2)
Company.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

/s/ Kevin Nanke
Kevin Nanke
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
August 19, 2015

